

# **Walden University ScholarWorks**

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

# Strategies for Improving Companies' Productivity and Profitability

Mioshi Marshall Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Business Commons

# Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

#### Mioshi Marshall

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. James Glenn, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Lisa Cave, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Diane Dusick, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

## Abstract

# Strategies for Improving Companies' Productivity and Profitability

by

Mioshi Marshall

MBA, Belhaven University 2015 BS, Jackson State University, 2010

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

May 2022

#### Abstract

Failure of leaders to be proactive and create a plan that motivates employees to be productive often leads to disengaged employees and a decrease in productivity that negatively impacts profitability. Grounded in Vroom's expectancy theory, this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies HR managers use to increase employee commitment and retention to increase the company's productivity and profitability. The participants were four HR managers at four organizations in Texas who manage 50 or more employees and have implemented strategies to retain committed employees to improve productivity. Data were collected from semistructured interviews and company document reviews. Thematic analysis was used to analyze the data. Using Yin's 5 step data analysis process, three themes emerged: improving employee morale, effective communication, and rewarding employees. A key recommendation for HR managers is to promote corporate culture and HR employee retention strategies such as one-on-one meetings and personalized training to increase organizational commitment. The implications for positive social change include the potential to retain employees thereby, increasing local employment and the community tax base.

# Strategies for Improving Companies' Productivity and Profitability

by

# Mioshi Marshall

MBA, Belhaven University, 2015 BS, Jackson State University, 2010

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

May 2022

#### Dedication

My doctoral study is dedicated to my Lord and Savior, Jesus Christ, who has guided, graced, and promised mercy to me throughout my doctoral journey. Though this journey has been challenging, I am grateful for the courage, faith, strength, and endurance that he provided me to complete this doctoral journey. In addition, I dedicate this amazing milestone study to my handsome husband, Frederick, whose love, encouragement, unwavering support, and financial assistance made this possible. It is also my pleasure to dedicate my studies to my beautiful daughters, Makiyah and Maleah, for their love and constant motivation to succeed in my studies. Furthermore, I would like to thank all my family and friends who encouraged and assisted me along the way.

#### Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to acknowledge my heavenly father for his divine grace that has allowed me to successfully complete my doctoral journey. I would like to acknowledge my amazing husband, Frederick, and our beautiful daughters Makiyah and Maleah for their love, patience, and motivation throughout this journey. I would like to sincerely acknowledge Dr. Jim Glenn (chair), Dr. Lisa Cave (2nd chair committee member), and Dr. Diane Dusick (URR) for their honesty, insight, recommendations, and guidance. I am forever grateful that I had an opportunity to work with an amazing committee throughout my doctoral journey. I would like to acknowledge my fellow classmates that have provided me encouragement and tips along the way. Lastly, I would like to acknowledge all of the participants that allowed me to conduct an interview with them for my research and reach this amazing milestone.

# Table of Contents

List of Tables	iv
Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement	2
Nature of the Study	3
Research Question	4
Interview Questions	4
Conceptual Framework	5
Operational Definitions	6
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	7
Assumptions	7
Limitations	7
Delimitations	8
Significance of the Study	8
Contribution to Business Practice	9
Implications for Social Change	10
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	10
Expectancy Theory (ET)	13
Equity Theory	21

	Reinforcement Theory	24
	Commitment	28
	Profitability	29
	Employee Retention	35
	Employee Engagement	39
	Employee Relationships	43
	Benefit Incentives	46
	Transition	49
Se	ection 2: The Project	50
	Purpose Statement	50
	Role of the Researcher	51
	Participants	53
	Research Method and Design	56
	Research Method	56
	Research Design	57
	Population and Sampling	59
	Ethical Research	61
	Data Collection	63
	Data Collection Instruments	65
	Data Collection Technique	67
	Data Analysis	69
	Reliability and Validity	71

Reliability	72
Validity	73
Transition and Summary	75
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	77
Introduction	77
Presentation of the Findings.	77
Emergent Theme 1: Improving Employee Morale	79
Emergent Theme 2: Effective Communication	88
Emergent Theme 3: Rewarding Employees	93
Application to Professional Practices	98
Implications for Social Change	100
Recommendations for Action	101
Recommendations for Further Research	103
Reflections	104
Conclusion	105
Appendix: Interview Protocol	144

# List of Tables

Table 1. Emergent Themes	. 79
Table 2. Company Documents	. 79

#### Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Business leaders have a responsibility to employees and their companies to create strategies to increase productivity and profits. Employees may become motivated to work harder if they are challenged, valued, and provided incentives for their efforts of productivity that may lead to an increase in profits for the organization. Leaders can be proactive and create a plan that would be beneficial to the employee and the organization.

#### **Background of the Problem**

Business leaders within organizations must consider ways to keep employees engaged, productive, and committed to increase profitability within the organization (Zeidan & Itani, 2020). Employees who are dissatisfied could become low performers or demotivated to perform the responsibilities of their job (Kai-Ting Lee, 2020). Leadership strategies to enhance employee commitment help retain employees and keeping them motivated to perform at a high level (Krajcsák, 2019). Human resources (HR) leaders who develop employee strategies help the organization gain or sustain a competitive advantage (Swid et al., 2017).

The key to increased productivity, performance, and profitability is to optimize each employee contribution to increase the productivity, performance, and profitability of their organization (Myrna, 2010). Employee affective commitment enhances by consistently identifying, improving, and communicating organizational core values such as culture, and recognition along with core competencies (Krajcsak, 2019). The focus of

this study is to explore strategies that some HR managers use to increase employee commitment and retention to increase the company's productivity and profit.

#### **Problem Statement**

Employees who are dissatisfied with their jobs tend to have lower productivity levels, which may reduce employee retention and overall organizational performance (Jha & Kumar, 2016). In 2021, more than 3 million people quit their jobs voluntarily and did not have the opportunity to grow their careers with their current employer, in turn reducing retention and decreasing organizational commitment, productivity, and organizational performance (U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2021). The general business problem is that some HR managers fail to provide employment benefits to incentivize workers to stay with the company to lower employee turnover and increase productivity. The specific business problem is that some HR managers lack strategies to increase employee commitment and retention to increase the company's productivity and profit.

### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study is to explore strategies that some HR managers use to increase employee commitment and retention to increase their companies' productivity and profit. The targeted population were HR managers in four public organizations' HR departments in Texas who have successfully implemented strategies to increase employee commitment and retention to increase the companies' profitability and profits. The implications for positive social change could include higher incomes for local companies and their employees and an increase in the state and local

tax base, which may lead to greater community development and a higher quality of life for all residents.

#### Nature of the Study

The three methodological choices are quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods (Saunders et al., 2015). I selected the qualitative method because I used semistructured interview questions that were open-ended and provided rich textual data to address the research question. In this qualitative research design study, I used this data collection technique to choose, justify, and then validate the conceptual framework and investigate successful strategies that HR managers used to increase employee commitment and retention to increase the company's productivity and profit. Conversely, Barnham (2015) noted that the quantitative method is appropriate for investigating relationships or differences among independent and dependent variables to prove a hypothesis. The mixed method is a combination of quantitative and qualitative research methods to provide richer data for understanding complex phenomenon (Saunders et al., 2015). To explore strategies to increase employee commitment and retention to increase companies profit and productivity, I did not test the relationship between variables or hypotheses; therefore, the qualitative and quantitative portion of a mixed methods study were not appropriate. I used the qualitative research methodology in this study.

I considered three research designs to use for a qualitative study on strategies to increase employee commitment and retention to increase the company's productivity and profits: phenomenology, ethnography, and case study. In a phenomenological design, a

researcher seeks to identify and explore the uniqueness of individuals' lived experiences (Saunders et al., 2015). The scope of my study did not involve personal experiences; therefore, a phenomenology design was not appropriate. An ethnographic design is the study of a culture or ethnic group (Nairn et al., 2020). The scope of my study did not involve describing one or more groups' cultures; therefore, an ethnographic research design was not appropriate. A case study is an in-depth inquiry into a topic within a real-life setting (Saunders et al., 2015). It is a research design that involves an investigation to determine a phenomenon using multiple sources of evidence, which made it an ideal design to explore the strategies that HR managers use to increase employees' commitment. I chose a multiple case study because replication is suitable for the nature of the chosen case population. A single case study approach was not chosen because I did not intend to observe and analyze a phenomenon that few have considered before.

#### **Research Question**

What strategies do human resource managers use to increase employee commitment and retention to increase the company's productivity and profit?

### **Interview Questions**

- 1. What successful strategies are you employing to increase employee commitment and retention to reduce turnover and training cost to improve productivity and profitability?
- 2. How have you assessed the strategies' effectiveness of the employee strategies you developed to increase productivity and profitability?

- 3. How has implementation of employee commitment and retention strategies improved productivity and profitability?
- 4. What were the key challenges that you encountered implementing employee commitment and retention strategies?
- 5. How did your organization address the key challenges to increase employee commitment and retention?
- 6. Based upon your experience, how have your organization's strategies to improve employee commitment and retention influenced your company's ability to increase productivity and profitability?
- 7. What additional information about your organization's strategies to improve employee retention to improve productivity would you like to add to this interview?

### **Conceptual Framework**

Vroom developed expectancy theory (ET) in 1964 to explore employees' choices that may lead to work motivation and superior job perormance to achieve the best personal outcome (Lloyd & Mertens, 2018). In the 1990s, there was a growing use of ET to explain and predict human behavior in organizations (Baumann & Bonner, 2017). Vroom believed that an employee's performance is based on individual factors such as personality, skills, knowledge, experiences, and abilities. Vroom's (1964) ET demonstrated the extent to which an employee is likely to engage in an action that will influence their behavior to increase performance for the benefit of organizational growth

by an increase in profits and productivity. The key constructs of ET are the perception that effort leads to performance and influences the behavior choice on perceived rewards or personal expectations (Lloyd & Mertens, 2018). ET was useful for exploring employee retention to increase productivity because it is based on motivating others and influencing employees' behavior based on efforts, performance, and rewards.

#### **Operational Definitions**

Affective commitment: Affective commitment is an emotional attachment that an employee develops toward organizational values that impacts an employee's organization-relevant behavior (Paolucci et al., 2018).

*Employee engagement*: Employee engagement is a positive, fulfilling, work-related state of mind that is characterized by vigor, dedication, and absorption (Zuliawati et al., 2018).

Human resource management: Human resource management consists of practices and policies that are required to be maintained within the personnel aspect of the administration, including hiring, appraising, rewarding, and providing a safe and just environment for the current employees of an organization (Mazi, 2015).

*Job satisfaction:* Job satisfaction encompasses the feelings and beliefs of people about their jobs and work environments that influence their motivation to work effectively (Sumlin et al., 2021).

Organizational commitment: Organizational commitment is the individual's psychological attachment to the organization (Sumlin et al., 2021).

## Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

### **Assumptions**

An assumption is an unexamined belief that has not been confirmed and is sufficient to describe the phenomenon (Nkwake, 2013). The first assumption of this study was that the interviewees provided honest and truthful responses. The second assumption was that the choice of interview questions for data collection led to the necessary information on the strategies human resource managers use to increase employee commitment and retention to increase the company's productivity and profit. Finally, another key assumption was that ET is an appropriate conceptual framework for exploring the constructs that increases employee commitment and retention to increase the company's productivity and profit.

### Limitations

Limitations are systematic biases that are uncontrollable by the researcher and affect the internal and external validity of the researcher's findings (Price & Murnan, 2010). The first limitation was that I was solely responsible for data collection and analysis, which creates a potential for bias. As such, more effort to increase the reliability and validity of the study was necessary. The next limitation was that the interviewees provided honest and forthright responses to the interview questions and were willing to share documentation. Interviewees' responses did not represent the views of human resource managers in other geographical limitations. The final limitation was time.

Walden University required that I conducted the doctoral study within a specified time;

therefore, I conducted a cross-sectional data collection strategy, which was done relatively fast to save time.

#### **Delimitations**

Delimitations are those characteristics that define the boundaries and limit the scope within a study, which are controlled by selecting a choice of research questions and chosen population to investigate (Cörvers et al., 2009). The first delimitation was my focus on only HR managers. I did not include managers from any other areas. The second delimitation was that I used a purposeful sample of HR managers located in Texas who managed 50 or more employees within their organization. The third delimitation was the research problem itself. There are many other important issues that leaders face as HR managers, but I focused on the strategies leaders used to increase employee commitment and retention to increase the company's productivity and profit. The social benefits encourage local managers to learn new skills and retain and attract new employees while remaining competitive and increasing profits and productivity in the workforce.

# **Significance of the Study**

The findings from this study of the strategies that HR managers used to increase employee commitment and retention to increase the company's productivity and profitability enabled HR managers to create proactive strategies to increase a company's productivity and profitability. Greater job satisfaction through talent development and career coaching derive from human resource management (HRM) strategies (Ling et al., 2018). HR managers altered or used new strategies to keep employees engaged and

provided rewards or incentives to stimulate productivity. Profits are important with driving organizational success. The exploration of successful employee retention strategies allowed HR managers to create increased commitment among employees, which lead to an increase in companies' productivity and profitability. Leaders may use the results of this study to identify opportunities to grow their organization faster and compete more efficiently and effectively, which will allow the organization to thrive and remain competitive.

#### **Contribution to Business Practice**

The increased business value created through greater employee commitment and retention lead to higher productivity and profitability, thereby improving competitive positioning and an increased market share. HRM strategies derive greater job satisfaction through talent development and career coaching (Ling et al., 2018). The exploration of successful employee retention strategies allowed HR managers to create increased commitment among employees lead to an increase in companies' productivity and profitability. The findings from this study are of value to HR managers to provide strategies to increase commitment to the organization and permit business leaders to retain high performing employees. Leaders may use the findings from this study to identify opportunities to grow their organization faster and compete more efficiently and effectively, which will allow the organization to thrive and remain competitive.

### **Implications for Social Change**

HR managers used strategies to increase commitment and reduce turnover and increase productivity and profitability, which in turn would reduce unemployment and increase state and local taxes, leading to greater investment in communities by both state and local governments. Employee commitment involves an emotional connection with the organization is important to retain employees within an organization (Ziykovic et al., 2021). The improvement in employee commitment enhances employees' quality of life due to employees being happier and willing to perform their jobs more efficiently, thereby creating greater job security for their families. The findings from this study are a value to HR managers in the community to provide strategies to increase employee commitment within organizations and permit business leaders to retain high performing employees in the community by continuing to adopt valuable strategies.

### A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

In this literature review, I explored research findings on the strategies that HR managers used to increase employee commitment and retention to increase the company's productivity and profit. I also explored strategies that HR managers used to maintain employee engagement, relationships, and benefit incentives. The articles in this academic review relate to the research question: What strategies do human resource managers use to increase employee commitment and retention to increase the company's productivity and profit? The ET was utilized as the conceptual framework for this study. In this literature review, I provided supporting and contracting theories, the equity and

reinforcement theory of motivation. Peer-reviewed journal articles, along with books and government publications, were the sources of information utilized in this literature review

The literature review was an overview of the productivity challenges that HR managers faced in retaining productive employees to increase profits followed by a detailed examination of the literature on the conceptual framework. Secondly, I continued with an analysis of ET, a discussion of the theory's applicability to productivity and profitability strategies among HR managers, and a summary of the contrasting theories. Next, I included a review of the existing body of knowledge relating to the reasons for non-committed employees. The focus shifted to the factors that influence noncommitted employees, such as employee engagements, employee relationships, and the lack of benefit incentives. Lastly, a review and synthesis of the literature on the employee productivity and commitment strategies that HR managers implemented in HR management industry to complete the literature review.

I explored a range of issues in the extant literature on issues relating to employee commitment and productivity and HR challenges in a wide array of industries. I retrieved research material through several databases-Business Source Complete and ProQuest and accessed additional research material through search engines such as Google Scholar. The search terms for discovering relevant content for the review were *employee commitment*, *productivity*, *profitability*, *employee engagement*, *employee relationships*, *employee benefit incentives*, and *productivity and profitability challenges among HR* 

*managers*. The entire study contained referenced works with peer-reviewed studies within the mandatory 5-year period (2016-2021). There are works cited in the literature review that were published prior to 2016. The literature review included 169 references composed of peer-reviewed journal articles and one book. Ninety-three (93%) of the references were published between 2016 to 2021.

Concerns related to dissatisfied employees can affect performance, productivity levels, and retention within organizations worldwide. The review of literature for this study included information collected from organizations and this information is applied to a qualitative case study within the HR industry. The review of literature was conveyed through a summary of previous research, comparing, and contrasting research study methods and findings. An analysis of employee productivity and satisfaction demonstrated employees were more likely to respond positively to incentive from their employers as a performance incentive such as merit pay, individual commission, and bonuses (Bryson et al., 2016). This study involved exploring strategies to increase commitment among employees while aiming to increase the company's productivity. Managers recognize problems within the organization that may negatively impact the financial stability of the organization (Klink et al., 2021). Lloyd and Merten (2018) noted that worker motivation is an important yet problematic criterion for administrators to utilize effectively among a diverse group of employees, but it is useful in managing employee motivation.

The use of the research question conveyed the strategies that human resource managers used to influence employees to become committed and retain them within the company with the intent to increase productivity among employees while raising the profits of the organization. Leaders planned and stratagized ways to develop new and improved ways to grow their organization through engaging and retaining employees, as well as gradually increasing profits for success (Chawla, 2020). The demonstration of the conceptual framework is through ET. Managers used ET, to develop strategies to promote work motivation and job performance by cultivating employees personality, skills, knowledge, experiences, and ablities (Glišović et al., 2019). ET was relevant to understand the findings of my study because it was useful for exploring employee retention strategies to increase productivity because it is based on motivating others and influencing employees' behavior based on efforts, performance, and rewards.

# **Expectancy Theory (ET)**

This literature review began with a discussion of ET as the foundation for understanding the importance of implementing new strategies to motivate employees. In 1964, Vroom, a Canadian professor of psychology, developed the ET (Lloyd & Mertens, 2018). Vroom studied people's motivation and concluded motivation depends on three factors: (a) expectancy, (b) instrumentality, and (c) valence (Chopra, 2019).

### Tenets of ET

Expectancy is the belief that effort leads to a specific level of performance (Nimri et al., 2015). Employees are often in search of a particular outcome that will gain

recognition and an increase in pay. Expectation is an idea of the possibility that a particular act will create a desired result (Glišović et al., 2019). Employers are responsible for introducing employees to the organizational culture and creating expectations for the organization to recognize and employ opportunities to award incentives. HR managers are responsible for identifying expectations for an employee to remain motivated in a competitive work industry.

Instrumentality is a performance that leads to an outcome of perception, and is described as instrumentality (Beiu & Davidescu, 2018). Instrumentality is an opportunity for an employee to achieve a desired outcome of positive valence (Glišović et al.,2019). Positive outcomes lead to other results of performance and desired incentives, which is an opportunity to increase motivation among employees, other employers, and HR managers.

Valence is the value of a reward or outcome (Lloyd & Mertens, 2018).

Researchers used ET and focused on the importance of employee work motivation to maximize job performance (Blackman et al., 2018). Employees were willing to work hard and enhance their motivation for an attractive reward of recognition. Valence refers to an employee's interest to an incentive outcome through (a) attractiveness (b) importance, and or (c) potential consequences associated with accepting the reward or incentive (Glišović et al., 2019).

#### Evolution of ET

In the 1950s, the foundation of the ET was established from the expectancy-value theory (EVT; Lloyd & Mertens, 2018). Atkinson, an American psychologist who pioneered the scientific study of human motivation, achievement, and behavior (Bernard et al., 2005). Atkinson developed the expectancy-value theory in the 1950s in an effort to understand the motivation of individuals (Lloyd & Mertens, 2018). ET has evolved since the establishment of the expectancy-value theory.

Leaders need to be able to determine key factors that motivate and keep their employees engaged to remain loyal and contribute to a productive and profitable organization. According to Ball et al. (2016), the EVT linked an employee's performance, persistence, and choices to their values and beliefs. The ET was linked to an employee's effort to achieve work activities while achieving personal and organizational goals (Gilsovic et al., 2019). HR leaders should consider ways to inspire and ensure employee motivation to all employees. Every employee perceives motivation differently based on their economic, social, and emotional needs and experiences.

Employees are motivated by the way their employer reacts to their performance. ET is a process theory that demonstrates what an employee expects to receive in return for their productive work efforts. According to Sobaih and Hasanein (2020) the two-factor content theory of motivation is derived from an employees' perception of their achievement, recognition, and their personal growth through leadership feedback.

Covertly, managers utilizing ET must determine new strategies to motivate a diverse workforce to continue to achieve employee motivation (Lloyd and Mertens, 2018).

Employees require different criteria to become motivated and leaders must be able to determine the ways that they are able to retain a productive employee that is committed to contributing to the future of the organization. The key components of ET are effort and reward to enhance motivation. However, human motivation and behavior are the driving forces of (HMT) to motivate employees based on recognition or achievement.

Employees that are motivated may be more productive and committed to the success of the organization. Both theories consist of factors that contributes to job satisfaction, which are motivators. Motivators in HMT will improve organizational efficiency by higher productivity, better quality, better attendance and punctuality, lower labor turnover, which will improve performance in employees (Gardner, 1977). Motivators in ET are determined based on a behavioral choice that will obtain a desirable outcome motivating the employee as a force to be productive. (Baumann & Bonner, 2017). Both of these theories maybe favorable to an organization motivating their employees be productive and contribute to the wealth if the organization. Employees benefited from support, training, and recognition to retain high performing and motivated employees.

In 1968, Porter and Lawler extended Vroom's expectancy theory of motivation using two additional variables in their model. They used the foundation of Vroom's theory to develop their expectancy model. They concluded that an individual's motivation to complete a task is affected by the reward that they expect to receive for completing the task. Porter and Lawer (1968) introduced additional aspects to ET,

reward defined as both intrinsic and extrinsic. Intrinsic rewards are positive feelings that the individual experiences from completing the task such as satisfaction, and sense of achievements. The extrinsic rewards are distributed in the form of bonuses, commissions, and pay increases.

#### Previous Researchers Who Have Used ET

As firm diversity and collaboration increases, managers must utilize various criteria to motivate workers across numerous sectors and cultures continually. Lee (2019) noted the effects moderating conditions that contribute to performance-based human resources management that directly increases worker motivation. The expectancy theory suggested that if people expect a positive and desirable outcome, they will usually work hard to perform at the level expected of them. Baumann and Bonner (2017) described the theory of expectancy both as a behavioral choice and motivation.

Researchers have assisted with the evolution of the ET over the years by including achievable rewards that are linked to motivate employees personally, to achieve performance goals. Employee expectations are high in regard to receiving rewards based on their positive contributions to the organization (Foy et al., 2019). HR managers now have more measurable options to consider and implement such as conducting quarterly one-on-one meetings with employees linking rewards directly to performance. High performing employees look forward to greater rewards than their peers for their great contributions to their organization's success in profits and productivity levels (Foy et al., 2019). HR managers now have more measurable options to utilize to motivate their team

by linking rewards directly to performance. They understand the importance of developing transparent rewards that are realistic such as bonuses, written praise, or verbal praise. Scholars have widely dissected, debated, and tested ET while expanding it to improve performance among employees. The primary goal is to increase productivity and profitability for the growth of the organization.

HR managers have the ability to create innovative best-fit strategies for their employees by requesting their input and making it compatible with local cultural and institutional contexts (Kornelakis, 2018). The strategies that HR managers may establish to retain employees are through profit sharing, stock options, and the balanced scorecard. Kornelakis (2018) suggested employees who provide input on driven forces to enhance their work experience may also enhance employee productivity, boost employee engagement, and innovation within the organization. Bárcena-Ruiz (2016) insisted that profit sharing is an innovative way for employees to participate in earning and protecting the company profits, while keeping employee morale, loyalty, and retention up. Organizations have the option to pay profit-sharing plans monthly or quarterly to employees or retirees' accordance with their wages/salaries, length of service, absence records, individual performance, held as stocks, or a combination of all factors. Profit sharing may result in higher organizational performance, an increase in profits, and retaining employees. Hambly et al. (2019) insisted that the profit-sharing plan directly relates to three theories: (a) an integrated approach based on the expectancy theory, (b) goal setting theory, and (c) reinforcement theory. Employee expectations are high when

they are confident that their actions will affect by increasing profits and profits, which creates high expectations along with high levels of motivation.

The balanced scorecard is another tool that HR managers use to retain and strategically identify useful objectives that may impact the organization positively. McKnight et al (2020) identified the balanced scorecard (BSC) as a performance metric that help managers develop management initiatives to focus on organizational strategy and vision. The BSC is the foundation to the financial perspective of an organization along with three additional perspectives to include customer, internal, and innovation and learning to stimulate and maximize the organizational success (McKnight et al., 2020). Consequently, ET is a motivational force experienced by an individual to select one behavior from a larger set is some function of the perceived likelihood that the behavior will result in the execution of various outcomes weighted by the desirability (valence) of these outcomes to the person (Lee, 2019).

There are other theories that are closely related to ET and motivating people in various ways to obtain a controlled result. Leadership styles in the work environment can show the effectiveness of achieving desirable organizational outcomes (Kanat-Maymon et al., 2020). The Maslow's hierarchy of needs, equity theory of motivation, and the reinforcement theory all relate to the ET and motivation in the workplace. In 1943, Maslow, an American psychologist who was best known for creating Maslow's hierarchy of needs, which is a theory of psychological health predicted on fulfilling innate human needs in prioritizing and culminating in self-actualization (Bridgman et al., 2019).

Maslow also developed a concept of a hierarchy of needs in his 1943 paper "A Theory of Human Motivation" and subsequent book *Motivation and Personality*. This hierarchy suggested that people are motivated to fulfill basic needs before moving on to other, more advanced needs (Acevedo, 2018).

The hierarchy pyramid consists of three levels of needs: (a) basic needs, (b) psychological needs, and (c) self-fulfillment needs. The basic needs are physiological and safety needs: (a) food, (b) water, (c) warmth (d) rest, (e) security, and (f) safety (Bridgman et al., 2019). The psychological needs are esteem needs and belongingness and love need: (a) intimate relationships, friends and (b) prestige and feeling of accomplishment (Acevedo, 2018). Finally, self-fulfillment needs are self-actualizations of achieving one's potential and including creative activities. The hierarchy of needs are human requirements that an individual must have to achieve complete development and actualization.

The three components of ET are expectancy, instrumentally, and valence which is ultimately a belief that the efforts put forth will lead to a goal. Conversely, hierarchy of needs indicates that everyone requires the basic needs personally to reach their goals. In sum, people need to have their basic needs met before utilizing ET to achieve their personal, educational, or career goals. ET may be established by an employee after their basic needs are met. The work hierarchy of needs relates to challenging jobs, incentives, social activities, seniority, and salary (Li et al., 2019). The psychological need of prestige and feeling accomplished is similar to ET and the expectancy based on a previous action.

Self-actualization needs, esteem needs, social needs, safety needs, and physiological needs, apply to personal and work needs are necessities for an employee (Wellman et al., 2020). ET is a want for an action to occur to feel accomplished and hierarchy of needs describes the need to feel accomplished as a human requirement as a phycological need (Skiba & Rosenberg, 2011).

#### **Equity Theory**

The equity theory of motivation (ETM) supports ET as scholars use ETM to demonstrate that employee motivation continues when they are treated equally, and employers are implementing fair practices within the organization (Davlembayeva et al., 2021). Skiba and Rosenberg (2011) posited that ET and ETM are appropriate for recognizing a wide variety of awards employees will achieve as a result of performance. ETM identifies the importance of perception fairness in the workplace, and the connection with understanding human motivation (Ross & Kapitan, 2018). Employee motivation is inspired by the fair balance between their organizational inputs and outputs (O'Connor & Crowley-Henry, 2019). Therefore, employees receive their motivation from being treated equitably, while receiving their due diligence for their efforts. As a result, HR managers are accountable for implementing ETM to promote organizational justice and employee engagement.

Adams, a workplace behavioral psychologist, laid the foundation for ETM in 1963, and the development of his theory of motivation (Skiba & Rosenberg, 2011). Later in 1964, Vroom expanded on Adam's idea for the theory and introduced the idea of

ensuring that employee reward systems are fair (Skiba & Rosenberg, 2011). There are three components of ETM theory: (a) organizational justice, (b) job performance, and (c) the behavior as a result of inequality (Ross & Kapitan, 2018). The utilization of equity-based awards is associated with retaining employees managing job duties that will offer equal incentives to employees based on their performance. ET highlights the performance of employees' actions in exchange for rewards based on expectations. The three elements of (ETM) are (a) inputs such as education, training, and skills you are putting into a job; (b) outputs such as pay, recognition, and bonuses; and (c) comparisons such as comparing input (effort) with output (rewards) among other employees (Cote, 2019).

ETM is driven by employee satisfaction by comparing their effort and rewards amongst other employees (Demircioglu, 2021). While the ET depends on an employee's belief that their actions will produce a certain outcome that they may value to work towards, in which it is a determining factor of why an employee chooses a behavior in certain situations (Glišović et al, 2019). Therefore, skill-based pay systems allow each individual to be compensated according to their skills. Thus, HR managers could use ETM theory to learn and implement strategies to sustain productivity and profitability within organizations (Guzak & Kang, 2018). The primary goal of ETM is to ensure that employees recognize the fairness of employee reward systems and attain a meaningful work environment (Rosenberg & Skiba, 2011). Conversely, the primary goal of ET is that employees experience motivation to perform by two expectancies, which are the probability that a performance will lead to a certain desired outcome and the effort given

lead to a desired performance in return will determine the level of motivation (Rosenberg & Skiba, 2011).

The ETM and ET have some similarities and also some differences. Both theories contributed to employee motivation and classify a process theory of how motivation occurs within employees (Glišović et al, 2019). However, ETM demonstrated that inputs (work) should be equal to outputs (rewards). Examples of inputs include (a) time, (b) effort, (c) education, (d) qualification, (e) ability, (f) flexibility, (g) sacrifices, and (h) support given. As a result of inputs, examples of outputs include (a) salary, (b) pension, (c) healthcare, (d) job security, (e) recognition, (f) reputation, (g) achievement, and (h) praise and thanks (Rosenberg & Skiba, 2011). While the ET (1964), linked expectancy (effort), instrumentality (performance), and valence (rewards) as an equation that must include all three as a consideration for an employee to become motivated to achieve the ultimate goal to work towards the reward.

The results of ETM were consistent with ET that employees acquire motivation through their perception of the establishment of rewards (outcome or valence) they may receive from their managers on their work efforts (Davlembayeva et al., 2021). Although ET suggested that expectancy, instrumentality, and valence must include all three to be present to motivate an employee, ETM reached a different conclusion that employees demonstrate inputs that leads to outputs (rewards) or they will encounter feeling of demotivation instead of motivation for their inputs (Lloyd & Mertens, 2018). Baumann and Bonner (2017) stated that employees may differ in how they assess valence,

expectancy, and instrumentality, which in return has a different perception of expectancy and their motivation to obtain the reward. As a result, HR mangers ensured that the target goals were desirable and obtainable for each employee to aspire to achieve the goal based on their level of motivation to increase productivity and profits within an organization. I selected ET as my conceptual framework because the theory offers a manageable strategy for HR leaders to use to influence employees to become motivated, increase productivity performance, and attract earning rewards. In sum, I did not select the ETM as my conceptual framework because I did not want to review a strategy that only focused on motivating people when they are treated fairly.

#### **Reinforcement Theory**

An additional theory that was similar to ET is reinforcement theory (RT). Reinforcement can be defined as an action that a leader used to strengthen or enhance the behavior of an individual to result positively on the growth of an organization (Vollmer et al., 2020). In 1957, Skinner developed RT also known as behavior modifications (BM), to assist leaders with initiating positive or negative reinforcers to control individual behavior (Cote, 2019). HR leaders used the reinforcement-focused programs to control the outcome of behavior through external rewards, which increases employee motivation, both intrinsic and extrinsic simultaneously (Shuck et al., 2018). There were four elements to RT: (a) positive reinforcement, (b) negative reinforcement, (c) positive punishment, and (d) negative punishment (Skinner, 1958). Positive reinforcement and negative reinforcement are driving forces that added stimulus and increases behavior. Positive

punishment and negative punishment were a restrained force that removed stimulus while decreasing behavior. Skinner's (1958) applied to the study of HR managers because Skinner allowed for the possibility to explore the influence of HR managers developing strategies to maximize the motivation of employees through intrinsic and extrinsic awards, enhancing behavior, increasing performance, and exceeding job expectations to increase the profitability of the organization.

Antoni et al. (2017) suggested that HR managers, as leaders, should have knowledge of motivating employees and create a reward system to retain and attract employees to promote effective performance. Reward systems were a positive reinforcement that comprised of financial or nonfinancial rewards, which will drive the force to add stimulus to increase behavior. Appreciation, job security, promotion, and benefits are all rewards that managers may provide their employees. HR managers distinguished ways to motivate employees to encourage engagement, positive behavior, and reinforce that good behavior. This was an example of negative reinforcement, which is a driving force that increase behavior of any future performance of an employee (Younies & Al-Tawil, 2021). The factors that influenced an employee's motivation include leadership, social influences, and the nature of the work environment (Meyer et al., 2004).

The leading goal of RT was to guide leaders in utilizing forms of reinforcement to shape the behavior of employees by firmly controlling the consequences by initiating strategies that offer tangible extrinsic rewards such as perks and recognition to influence

favorable behavior in the work environment (Shuck et al., 2018). On the contrary, Rosenberg and Skiba (2011) posited the key goal of ET is that employees will experience motivation to perform by two expectancies, which are the probability that a performance will lead to a certain desired outcome and the effort given will lead to a desired performance in return will determine the level of motivation.

The RT and ET have some differences as well as similarities. Scott (2018) explained that both are effective theories that managers use to motivate employees in the workplace are process theories of motivation, which focuses on how motivation occurs within employee and how motives can change over time. HR managers can use both theories to develop solutions within their organizations to motivate their employees by meeting their intrinsic need for fulfillment and rewards. Conversely, RT is distinct from ET; Vroom suggested that motivation can be planned externally (Scott, 2018). Kang et al. (2017) argued that Skinner's development of RT explained that behavior is a function of its consequences.

Conversely, RT is considered a content theory of motivation (Glišović et al., 2019). Shuck et al. (2018) indicated that HR managers are responsible for designing a workplace climate that meets employees' basic psychological needs are (a) autonomy, (b) relatedness, and (c) competence. HR managers who meet employees' basic psychological needs may create a positive favorable work environment that leads to a healthier work motivation, employee intentions to work for enhanced outcomes, and financial gains for the employee as well as the organization (Shuck et al., 2018). While positive

reinforcement is directly related to results, a direct approach to the solution of performance problems indicates that employees offer a high performance which links to linking to consistent rewards or a specific pattern linked to a reward (Wizard, 1972).

The results of RT focused on consequences as a result of behavior choices, while ET focused on behavior choices among employees. Bawa (2017) suggested that RT is driven by stimulus, behavior, and consequences (positive or negative). In contrast, ET is driven by performance, instrumentality, and valence. Bawa (2017), suggested that managerial leaders could use RT to reinforce to employees to continue positive outcome leading to continual favorable behavior, which will in turn lead employees to not continue outcomes that lead to negativity. Conversely, Bawa (2017), argued that ET has the influence to link a positive reward leads to higher motivation levels of employees within the organization. As a result, HR managers are responsible for utilizing motivational strategies to increase motivational efforts among employees to increase performance and profits within an organization. RT related to consequences while ET deals with how an employee behaves, both are effective motivating theories HR manages can use to create efficient strategies within their organization to increase performance and profitability. Therefore, I chose ET as my conceptual framework because I wanted to focus on behavior choices strategies that HR leaders could develop to increase employee productivity rather than consequences of choices employees make established by RT.

### Commitment

In the first decade of the 21<sup>st</sup> century, involvement of HR in the strategic planning of the firm has grown dramatically. Concomitant with this has been an increase in upper managements' attempts to increase employee commitment to increase employee retention and thereby, firm profitability (Auijla et al., 2020). There are three types of employee commitment: continuance, normative, and affective commitment. Hodgkinson et al. (2018) posited that affective commitment is a form of commitment that can be influenced by an employer. Affective commitment is an emotional attachment that an employee develops toward organizational values that impacts an employee's organization-relevant behavior (Paolucci et al., 2018). Normative and affective commitment can also be a form of commitment that can be influenced by their organization's actions and expectations (Cesaro & Chambel, 2017). Organizational commitment directly affects whether an organization is successful or unsuccessful by how well the organization builds relationships with their employees (Gassen Balsan et al.,2020). Employee commitment played an influential role in increasing the company's productivity and profit.

HR managers value employees who show signs of commitment to their organization to increase business revenue. Continuance commitment was demonstrated by an employee who needed to stay on the job due to the cost or privileges associated with the organization such as seniority, jobs skills, friends, and status (Moin, 2018). Conversely, normative commitment was demonstrated by employees who feel that it is their moral duty to commit to their organization (Meyer & Parfyonova, 2010). HR

managers worked diligently to ensure that their employees are happy, motivated, compensated, and appreciated, and recognized for their exceptional work efforts.

The commitment of HR leaders was influential in developing the best work environment to grow, work, and learn while motivating employees to demonstrate good work habits. Jayasingam et al. (2016) noted that employees look to affirm affective commitment through job satisfaction, extrinsic rewards, constituent attachments, organizational commitment, and organizational prestige. Employees are motivated to continue good work habits if they know they will be rewarded for their duties and or appreciated by their superiors (Wong, 2019). HR leaders played a role of demonstrating the expectations of the organization.

# **Profitability**

One of the main goals of an organization is the expectancy to receive profits for the goods or services provided to their customers. Sánchez et al. (2011) posited profitable organizations are linked to positively influencing the prosperity of their industry along with the economy. Profitability is a term described as creation to reaffirm the point that one of the most practical and available ways to maximize profit is through optimizing productivity (Briggs et al., 2020). The purpose of profitability was to create a work environment and culture to influence engagement and productivity. An organizational leader's ability to optimize services to increase profitability from its customers, define their customer needs, and abilities to provide profit for the organization (Chen et al., 2019a).

Business leaders who are more informed of successful employee evaluation methods are more likely to gain a more productive workforce, which may increase profits and positively impact organizational growth. According to Minton-Eversole (2007), it was vital to increase the profitability of an organization and ensure that employee engagement is a priority to retaining valuable employees. Leaders should remember that less engagement leads to less profits, which is why it is vital that employees are shown their value and appreciation through rewards, recognition, and increase of compensation opportunities (Daisuke & Sato, 2020). Profits should not be the primary focus of management and the only metric used to define organizational success. The quality of an employee's wellbeing along with the potential career growth within the organization is another important consideration (Sarfaraz et al., 2015).

Customers or clients played a major role in the success of the organization by supporting the products or services offered and lifetime customer loyalty, which lead to maximizing the organization's profits (Hegarty, 2018). The success of an organization is dependent on the accuracy of measuring revenues and customer costs which requires excellent customer relationship management and accounting software (Farrah, 2017). There were many different leadership styles that assisted with promoting productive employees, which in turn increased retention along with profits for the organization. Business leaders had the opportunity to create strategies to attract and retain customers based on offering competitive services and products, which lead to an increase in organizational profits (Stinglhamber, et al., 2015). Human resources leader helped

manage new ways to influence productivity among employees while offering customers or clients competitive alternatives.

There were positive outcomes associated with engagement, recognition, and incentives offered to employees, which allowed employees to become more productive and increase profits among customers or clients. One positive outcome associated with the recognition of employees were to provide recognition certificates, bonuses, and employee of the month incentives to continue to motivate high-performing employees (Bergin et al., 2020). Another positive outcome of employee engagement was providing incentives such as a reward for a day off or a half of day when being productive and helping to increase organizational productivity levels (Bokert et al., 2020). Ghose and Mohanty (2016), suggested that employee recognition and reward systems are important drivers of loyalty to an organization. Profitability may increase due to employee engagement, recognition, and incentives as a strategic measure for employees to remain productive. In sum, leaders were able to develop strategies based on the motivational needs of the employees.

HR leader's strategic role in their organization can determine if the organization is successful financially. According to Gowan (2003), strategies were created for successful marketing, business plans, customer retention, and profitability to encourage customers to support the organization. The specific strategies were engagement, retention, and ways to increase productivity (Rompho, 2017). Engagement strategies included allowing employees and managers to collaborate on group projects. Strategies for retention offered

employees competitive pay and benefits. Lastly, productivity may be increased by offering employee incentives such as stock or recognition for their valuable service. The process of gaining knowledge from customers to build organizational profits can also provide the firm opportunities to achieve long term profitability by developing retention strategies for customers. In order to be successful business leaders must be willing to review statistics, create trends, and remain competitive to attract potential employees or clients to establish financial stability within an organization. As a result, HR leaders developed and provided strategies that will continue to enhance employee motivation by engaging, address retention, and increasing employee productivity by ensuring employees are compensated and recognized.

### **Balanced Scorecard**

A strategic planning and management system tool for organizations is the balanced scorecard (BSC) as a way to monitor performance goals to increase organizational profitability. The BSC is a technique that classified the basic goals of an organization and defines success criteria under the four categories of financial, customer, internal business, and learning and growth (Yilmaz & Antmen, 2019). Organizational leaders used the BSC as a tool to align business objectives to the vision and strategy of the organization while monitoring organizational performance against strategic goals (Moullin, 2017). Unlike traditional employee performance models based solely on the financial metrics of a company, managers using the BSC focus equally on each of these four domains: financial operations, the customer, and learning and growth (Yilmaz

&Antmen, 2019). The financial operations provided support to keep the organization paying overhead cost and compensating employees for their performance. The customer supported the organization by purchasing products or services for organization to gain profits. Employees can learn their job duties through on the job training or attending professional development. Growth is a component which will allow the organization to thrive by becoming a competitive organization. Initiatives, goals, targets, and metrics are established for each of these four core areas needed in any company (García-Cruz et al., 2018). Expectations are clearly defined, and each employee knows the targets and goals that they are expected to reach.

Employees who exceed targets are given incentive pay while those who do not meet the minimum targets established may lose their job. In this way managers can incentivize their top performers and fire their worst performers. Importantly, the BSC forced managers to measure and map each core process and set targets and goals that are clear and strategically congruent (Zawawi & Hoque, 2020). The day-to-day progress is monitored and measured daily, and processes organized to prioritize projects, products, and services to ensure their respective departments are meeting preestablished goals, initiatives, and targets. In this manner, progress can be measured and monitored to ascertain progress towards established strategic targets. A performance measurement (PM) system such as the BSC is an essential component metrics used to develop efficiency and effectiveness actions within the organization (Soysa et al., 2018). HR managers utilized the balance scorecard as a tool to measure and improve the

performance of the organization. Productivity and profitability measures are monitored through this strategic management system.

## Total Quality Management

Deming developed total quality management (TQM) as a leadership tool that provides organizations with a competitive strategy to continually improve processes aiming to provide a quality service that meets or exceeds expectations to increase profitability (Nguyen & Nagase, 2019). The quality management tool must continuously improve processes aimed at providing quality service to meet or exceed customer expectations. TQM included the entire organization's input to implement and constantly improve processes that managers oversee for quality experience among employee and potential clients. In addition, to achieve total quality it is imperative that employee satisfaction is met by providing a good quality of work life, which is driven by rewards and recognition, open door policies, fair and non-discriminatory grievance, incentives, enhancement of productivity, group incentive, and maintaining a good work environment (Palo & Padhi, 2005).

### Lean Six Sigma

Lean six sigma (LSS) was a quality management system that utilizes organizational excellence to eliminate any process that is not beneficial to providing quality HR practices (Raja Sreedharan et al., 2020). The primary goal of LSS was to eliminate or avoid any managerial decisions that could cost the organization money to improve or replace to function as a productive organization (Rodgers et al., 2021). Talent

management strategies improvements consist of refraining from hiring employees that do not meet skill sets, which require innovative ways in sourcing and recruiting to obtain a competitive advantage within organization management quality (Sahay, 2015).

As a result of utilizing a strategic plan and management system, achieving profitability is one of the most valuable components of maintaining an organization. Without profitability there is no organization with studies suggesting that leaders are responsible for developing strategies specifically for the benefit of their organization (Koderisch et al., 2007). Continuous process improvement increases profitability and productivity, in turn helping the organization in growing faster, exceeding stakeholders' financial expectations and goals (Selladurai., 2002). In conclusion, profits are not gained automatically. Growing profitability requires dedication, planning, action, and strategic implementation of processes, goals, initiatives and targets, and most importantly, remaining proactive in developing ways to improve the strategic positioning of the firm within its industry.

### **Employee Retention**

Employees are valuable to their organization's productivity level as well as the profits that are generated. Organizations are developing more strategies because they recognize the value that their employees may provide to the wealth of their organization. Employees created proactive measures to show their appreciation to their employees through recognition and monetary incentives. Organizations set goals, objectives, and intentions to retain their employees to assist achieving their goals (Ohunakin et al., 2020).

However, an employees' skills, expertise, and behavior toward the organization is a contributing factor of retaining an employee. There are benefits to retaining employees to secure the financial future of the organization.

Employees retention in the workplace is necessary to sustain high performing employees. McDougall (2001) suggested that employers create a proactive plan that will provide employees with continued support to stimulate financial growth through innovation and employee retention within an organization. Proactive planning is a time management skill that allow leaders of organizations to plan in advance for future while considering and avoiding costly mistakes. The decision-making experience among leaders is a proactive approach to enhancing the decisions and strategies within the organization (Grover et al., 2020). As a result, employee retention is managed by frequently creating proactive plans within the organization to sustain high performing employees.

Employees have a choice about selecting an employer, and employees feel appreciated and part of the team when they are recognized and rewarded. Employers have an opportunity to create strategies to retain employees that they may remain loyal to the organization. Increased retention can lead to an increase in productivity and profits for the organization (Covella et al., 2017). Affective organizational commitment mediates the relationship between the employee perceptions of servant leadership and employee turnover intention (Haqu et al., 2019). According to Jang and Kandampully (2018) leadership styles play a role in the employees' attitudes and behaviors and increased

affective commitment to retain employees. Leaders ultimately determine corporate culture and the work environment for organizational employees and are often the final step in developing strategies on retention. Employees played a role in the successful day to day operational flow of the organization. Profits kept the organization in operation and valued employees take pride in being productive for the longevity. As a result, employee retention is maintained through strategies involving commitment, incentives, and recognition.

HR leaders can maintain a workforce with talented employees by offering continued training and professional development. Frey et al. (2013) suggested motivating leaders to offer exceptional leadership traits to their employees helps to maintain a high productivity level among employees. HR leaders have a high influence of their employees' longevity and their motivation to remain a loyal employee. Retention led to motivation, an increase in productivity, job satisfaction, and an increase in exceeding organizational profits (Michael et al., 2016). Retention strategies should be a main priority among leaders to retain talented employees within the organization to promote a continuation of growth.

Organizational leaders retain top talented employees by utilizing the BSC to measure employees' performance metrics. Gawankar et al. (2015) discussed that organizations are using performance measurements to aid in achieving goals of effectiveness to continue to make managerial decisions. Employers seek to retain employees aid in increasing profits of the organization to achieve financial and

performance goals. The primary goal of PM was to review, compare, and contrast past and present operational strategies to fulfill the strategic goals of the organization (Gawankar et al., 2015). In comparison, quality management tools are integrated within BSC to organize a strategic plan that will comprise of a new management models for HR managers (Primentel & Major, 2014). Employers may retain more talented employees by using the BSC performance management system.

Employers want to be the choice employer by carefully attracting and retaining talented workers. Employees can be attracted and retained by competitive compensation, health benefits, retirement, flexible vacation, and paid time off (Hegarty, 2018).

According to Ahmad et al. (2020) there are three factors that stimulate retention efforts (a)attracting, (b) motivating, and (c) retaining skilled workers. Employers strive to be competitive in the market to attract and obtain a talented workforce who are motivated, productive, and want to reach the goal of maximizing profits for the organization.

Motivating employees through incentives and recognition may boost employee morale and encourage retention. Employers may retain skilled workers by offering continuing employee development trainings. HR leaders must continue to strategize to create more ways to retain employees for the continued growth of the organization.

Finally, employer branding is unique to each organization and the way they choose to operate their business. According to Molk (2018) employer branding identified the uniqueness of an organization defining the essence of the company attracting prospective employees to join the team. Employer branding has the capability on

delivering an employer promise to their employees in the efforts to retain employees (Botha et al., 2011). Strategies such as training, frequent one on one evaluation, establishing employee and employer relationship, promote organizational commitment, and provide a variety of benefit incentives. Retention strategies are one way to optimize productivity levels and increase organizational profits.

# **Employee Engagement**

Employees assist an organization reaching financial goals and metrics such as, productivity, profits, and organizational success. According to Thomas (2016) HR leaders are responsible for establishing engagement efforts to gain the feedback of employees to succeed in continuous process improvement and maintain a healthy corporate atmosphere and corporate culture to increase organizational performance. Employee engagement strategies allow the organization to become cohesive and further reach desired organizational goals (S & M,2021). There are nine outcomes from improved employee engagement (a) customer ratings, (b) profitability, (c) productivity, (d) turnover, (e)safety incidents, (f) shrinkage, (g) absenteeism, (h) patient safety incidents, and (i) quality (Thomas, 2016). The benefits of strategies to engage employees allow them to become a valuable contributor to the organizational growth and success (Williams & Bland, 2020). According to Schmidt (2007), the benefits of engaged employees are they contribute to a productive work environment, ethics; accountability, and a commitment to working for the organizational for an extended period of time. Employees perform better when they are engaged, and they feel they bring value to the

organization through their unique contributions (Khodakarami & Dirani, 2020).

Cultivating the corporate culture for employees could continue to lead to increased productivity of valued employees and increased organizational profits.

Organizational development is one of the components to a successful organization to maintain employee engagement. Human resource leaders often utilize total quality management (TQM) as a tool to develop strategies to improve quality management processes that assist with engaging employees (Nguyen & Nagase, 2019). TQM is a strategy that allows management to develop a long-term approach to employee satisfaction by improving processes, services, and culture. Quality improvement may be a strategy to implement employee engagement for organizational development. Quality management focuses on employee involvement, process centered, strategic approach, communication, and continuous improvement within the organizational processes.

Managers strive to create strategies that are proven to retain employees and allow employees to contribute to the organizational success (Nienaber & Martins, 2020). As a result, TQM allow managers to continue to inspire a positive relationship with employees by continuing to show value within the organization by clarifying the vision, mission, and values of the organization.

Leaders have the ability to create strategies that may guide and assist with developing positive long-term processes that employees would like to contribute for the success of the organization. Researchers have shown that TQM is an effective approach to service quality, productivity, and profits (Hart & Schlesinger, 1991; Nizamidou et al.,

2019). Successful TQM implementation includes a change in organizational values, organizational structure, the way people work together, and the way people feel about involvement and participation (Krajcsák, 2019). In some cases, TQM is led by consultants rather than internal managers to develop organizational changes and training programs to promote quality management (Hwang et al., 2020). Employees benefit form TQM by becoming trained, evaluated, recognized, rewarded, grouped, titled, and managed differently for the quality improvements of the organization (Mehralian et al., 2016).

Employees often help to create a major positive impact on an organization's daily routines and processes. It is vital that employees have an opportunity to voice their opinion on ways to grow the organization financially (Milliken et al., 2015). Employees voicing their options provides a platform for greater employee participation, healthier attitudes, culture, and increased employee involvement. According to Jha et al. (2019) research on employee voice suggested that providing employees with the sense that it is safe to speak up to their managers about their concerns, ideas, and suggestions can have very positive effects on employee behavior inside organizations.

Open and frequent communication within an organization provides managers and employees the opportunity to collaborate on work related concerns. Many employees feel they cannot speak up about issues or offer ideas or suggestions because doing so could lead to negative consequences (Milliken, 2016). Managers who establish an open communication exchange often gain beneficial feedback while creating a healthy form of

communication channel for employees to address their concerns. The process of implementing forms of employee engagement will increase employee commitment, productivity, and organizational success while decreasing the chances of miscommunication and disengagement among employees (Basheer et al., 2019).

Employee commitment contributes to the success of the organization. Mahmood and Sahar (2017) explained the impact of psychological empowerment and perceived career support on employee work engagement with the mediating role of affective commitment. The creation of an emotional bond between the employer and employee will allow the employee to become a valuable asset to the building the organizational brand and maintain capacity (Fehér & Reich, 2020). Leaders should find positive ways to influence an increase in organizational profits to sustain employees and their dedication to the organization because disengagement of employees in their work causes reduction in productivity and increase in cost.

Affective commitment is often linked in the extant literature to employee engagement, empowerment, and increased productivity, and refers to the sense of emotional concern and dedication to the people impacted by the work of others and is expected to precede work engagement (Jayasingam et al., 2016). One study indicates employee work engagement can occur through two different, yet related, pathways: a direct pathway and an indirect pathway. The perceived social impact and social worth are associated with greater affective commitment to customers, which in turn relates to work engagement (Castanheir, 2016). Employee engagement and establishing relationships

between employees and managers should be a positive experience that will meet successful goals of the organization. Castanheir (2016) suggested that affective commitment includes mediation strategies such as work engagement which leads to motivation, positive behavior, dedication, and absorption. The link between managers and employee engagement may determine the productivity and profitably of an organization.

Lastly, leaders who take pride in their employees may establish employee engagement opportunities to promote committed employees who are more likely to increase productivity and profits within the organization. Many researchers have found managers increase organizational profits by valuing their employees (Van De et al., 2016). Human resources leaders have an opportunity to see if this method will be appropriate for their employees to feel empowered by employee engagement. Business leaders are always searching for new ideas and methods to motivate that employees to want to invest in becoming a productive worker to increase the company's profits (García-Cruz et al., 2018). Human resource managers have a variety of options to utilize different motivational skills to improve employee engagement.

# **Employee Relationships**

The development of strong employee relationships is a management approach that can be adopted by using three key conversation pillars: understanding, coaching, and recognizing (Johnson, 2020). Creating positive employment relationships is a vital element to maintaining and increasing productivity levels to ensure success while pursing

organizational growth. Castanheira and Story (2016) suggested the roles of the relationship between employees and human resources managers create a positive employee outcome through the perception of affective commitment and work engagement aiding in forming employee relationships. Researchers indicated perceptions of performance oriented HR practices are indirectly associated with affective commitment through work engagement (Ariyabuddhiphongs & Kahn, 2017). Leaders have a role to create the work environment and corporate culture suitable for their employees to perform at a high level while forming relationships.

Leaders should develop and initiate healthy business relationships to meet the needs of the organization. Ridder and Andersen (2014) suggested that assessing customer profitability, customer commitment, and growth potential assists with relationships among customers. Managers assist with determining appropriate customer relationship strategies and performance indicators (Pradhan et al., 2018). The opportunity of creating an employee relationship with managers can be a positive incentive as employees create relationships with customers and clients to increase profits for continued organizational success (Sun &Wang, 2017). Relationships give employers and employees the chance to get to know each other on a personal level to access their strengths, weaknesses, goals, and future aspirations to better serve the organization while reaching their personal goals.

Knowledge sharing is positively associated with a firm's ability to innovate and enhance the organization's performance and profitability by building relationships.

According to Jeung et al. (2017) the demonstration that the relationship between

perceived organizational support and knowledge sharing intention is mediated by affective organizational commitment and this mediation effect is strengthened when an individual's organizational tenure is low. Managers and or leaders should strive to implement creating relationships with their employees to identify their specific and unique needs and ways to improve organizations (Ariyabuddhiphongs & Kahn, 2017). Sharing knowledge through employee relationships can assist with reaching organizational goals of increasing profits and productivity.

Sharing knowledge is the key to establishing positive relationships between HR managers and employees. Basnyat and Clarence (2020) acknowledged that an employees' perception of the interpretation of policies and procedures influence the relationship between human resource management and employee retention. Employees are more likely to remain with an organization that creates and implements policies and procedures that the employee respects and understands and see themselves as a valued contributing employee to the success of the organization (Ariyabuddhiphongs & Kahn, 2017). HR leaders should evaluate their policies and procedures to ensure that it serves the organization and its employees efficiently while creating healthy relationships.

The establishment of relationships in the work environment should serve as a positive relationship to promote a profitable organization. Chen et al. (2019b) agreed that corporate social responsibility (CSR) is closely linked to establishing healthy relationships within the workplace to increase productivity. Employers have a responsibility to create a positive safe environment for employees to increase

productivity, to encourage continuous process improvement, and successful organizational workflow (Chen et al., 2020). Employers should continue to create ways to promote a good working environment as well as relationships to enhance organizational growth. Positive relationships help establish loyalty, commitment, retention, and productivity (Giamporcaro et al., 2020).

Employers ideally should create strategies to gain continuous employee feedback to enhance the working environment. Adeinat and Kassim (2019) suggested that employee internal quality (EIQ) drives employee satisfaction. The working environment, career growth, employee compensation, and recognition all refer to internal quality (Fung et al., 2017). Employees are more likely to become satisfied if their employers utilize internal quality to create a positive relationship with employees and their work efforts (Kang & Sung, 2017). Employees want to be acknowledged, compensated, promoted, and paid according to their achievements at work monetary or incentives.

### **Benefit Incentives**

Employees that were offered a variety of benefits are often inspired and become more committed to the organization and its success. Organizational leaders initiate simple, meaningful incentive programs to boost recruiting and retention efforts to remain competitive and increase performance along with profits (Stewart, 2017). Organizational leaders should implement incentives that will create a lasting effect on demonstrating employee engagement to retain a productive work force. Benefit incentives are rewards that can enhance an employee's life by offering monetary rewards, promotions, paid

supplemental benefits, retirement match, and continued employee workforce development (Mead, 2018).

Top-down strategy is needed to create benefit incentives for employees that will benefit the employee while also increasing productivity and profits for the organization. Koderisch et al. (2007) emphasized that leaders are able to increase their profits by offering products that will serve multiple purposes to gain greater profitability for the growth of the organization. Leaders have the advantage to develop strategies specifically for the benefit of their organization based on the needs of their employees to remain focused and motivated (Li et al., 2019). Incentives should always be evaluated to determine if it remains a good fit for the employees within the organization or if room for improvement is needed.

Retirement contributions by an employer is a benefit incentive frequently offered to employees to help secure their financial future after retirement (Mead, 2018). Cole (2017) emphasized that many people do not have a retirement plan unless it is mandated by their employers. Employers are mandating retirement contributions from their employee's salary while also matching the employee's contributions as an added benefit for employees and their family's future (Quinby, 2020). Employers are eager to offer retirement contributions to the compensation package as an incentive. Retirement education and planning is a valuable incentive which is needed to attract potential employees as a premium benefit incentive (Li et al., 2019).

Employees are motivated by employers who offer more than monetary compensation. According to Mead (2018), prominent benefits intended to raise work levels are incentives. The most admired incentives offered include tuition reimbursement, annual employee appreciation events, paid leave, holiday pay, birthday holidays, paid health insurance, and employer matched retirement contributions (Mauser, 2018). Every employer has a competitive advantage that attracts prospective employees to the organization (Amad et al., 2020). Employers have the opportunity to develop strategies to create benefits that attract talented candidates.

In conclusion, employers can remain competitive by considering new and improved benefit incentives. Employers can promote organizational growth through profits and maintaining productive employees. De la Torre-Ruiz et al. (2019) emphasized that employee satisfaction is closely linked to receiving reward benefits that serve as the key to influencing affective reaction towards the firm. Benefit incentives are created to motivate employees, enhance employee satisfaction, and promote organizational commitment (Mead, 2018). Employee surveys can provide feedback to leaders to enhance the employee or employer relationship. HR leaders have the resources to enhance the employee and employer relationship by promoting committed employees, employee engagement, employee relationships, retention, and benefit incentives that could increase profits or productivity within the organization (Li et al., 2019).

### **Transition**

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that some HR managers used to increase employee commitment and retention to increase the company's productivity and profit. The study consisted of three sections, which included the foundation of the study, the project, and the application to professional practice and implications for change.

In Section 1, I introduced the foundation of the study, topic, and the problem statement. In this section, I presented information about the background of the problem, the problem statement, and the need to solve an applied business problem. I reviewed a selection of scholarly literature on strategies that some HR managers used to increase employee commitment and retention to increase the company's productivity and profit. In Section 2, I discussed the study methodology, details of the research design, the target population for the study, the interview instruments that I used for data collection, and conduct interviews while collecting the responses to address the research questions.

Finally, in Section 3, I presented my findings relevant to the research question. Section 3 contains the results of the completed research and the themes human resources managers used to increase employee commitment and retention to increase their company's productivity and profit. This study included a discussion of the findings in the context of implications for social change, recommendations for action, suggestions for further study, and my reflections on the research study.

# Section 2: The Project

In Section 2, I discuss the purpose of the qualitative study to explore the strategies that some HR managers used to increase commitment and retention while increasing the profits and productivity of the company. Next, I provide an explanation of my role as a researcher and my interviewees' role as participants of the study. I explain the criteria I used to select the participants and ensure their characteristics aligned with my study. Next, there is a discussion of the study methodology, details of the research design, the target population for the study, the interview instruments that I used for data collection, and how I conducted interviews while collecting the responses to address the research questions. Finally, I describe how I ensured reliability and validity for the qualitative study.

# **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that some HR managers used to increase employee commitment and retention to increase the company's productivity and profit. The targeted population were HR managers in four organizations' HR departments in Texas who have successfully implemented strategies to increase employee commitment and retention to increase the companies' profitability and profits. The implications for positive social change included higher incomes for local companies and their employees and an increase in the state and local tax base, leading to greater community development and a higher quality of life for all residents.

### Role of the Researcher

The role of a qualitative researcher is to (a) become an elective practitioner and a protector of participants and (b) conduct an ethical research (Cumyn et al., 2019). Collins (2014) suggested that a researcher's connection with participants can be strengthened through emotional intelligence during the interview process by carefully listening while clearly understanding the way a participant articulates. In an exploratory study, researchers ask open-ended questions to discover what is currently happening while gaining insight about a topic of interest (Feher, 2021). An exploratory research study can be conducted by searching the literature, interviewing subject matter experts, conducting in-depth individual interviews, or running focus group interviews (Cumyn et al., 2019). Researchers analyze a phenomenon by examining the themes, patterns, and trends from the collected data (Meurer & Costa, 2020). As the researcher, my role during the data collection process was to provide an inviting atmosphere to record accurate thoughts and feelings of participants to gain insight on a phenomenon.

As a qualitative researcher, I upheld the three ethical principles of research established by the *Belmont Report*. First, I provided respect to others by having each participant review and sign an informed consent form. The informed consent form was written in language that was easily understood and explained that participation in the study was voluntary. Secondly, I ensured beneficence by minimizing the risks associated with being a participant by masking their identities. Finally, I achieved justice by ensuring that the participants were able to benefit from the study by learning new

strategies to retain their employees, which allows the organizational to become more profitable. The *Belmont Report* outlines how researchers can ensure respect, beneficence, and justice to participants while conducting semistructured interviews (Adashi et al., 2018).

My relationship with the subject of HR managers' strategies to increase an organization's profitability and profits was associated with my role as a benefits specialist in the HR industry since 2011. I witnessed many organizations lose valuable employees, which resulted in lower productivity and decreased profits. Therefore, I sought an increased understanding of what successful strategies HR managers use to increase an organization's productivity and profits.

In qualitative research, bias may appear from the researcher or participants based on prior beliefs or experiences (Moosa, 2019). As the researcher for this study, I attempted to mitigate bias or viewing data through my personal lens or perspective by using an established interview protocol (see Appendix A), conducting member checking, and ensuring data saturation. To relieve any research presumptions, I developed openended interview questions to allow the participants to expand on the question. This approach allowed the participants to answer the questions and provide additional feedback that was beneficial to addressing the initial research question.

An interview protocol is considered an instrument of inquiry from a participant during the interview. According to Saunders et al. (2016), the key to a successful semistructured interview is to consider that prior planning prevents poor performance.

Researchers use an interview protocol to be consistent and develop standard interview questions to address the research question for the study (Levitan et al., 2018). The researcher should maintain consistency by using an interview protocol, asking each participant the same questions during the interview, and allowing participants the option to review interpretations of their response via member checking (Lanka et al., 2021). The interview protocol provided guidance on the steps I took to interview participants (see Appendix). First, I contacted participants by email or phone to extend an invitation to participate in an interview for the study. Secondly, once the participants agreed, I set a time to conduct an audio recorded interview via Zoom with the participant. Thirdly, I asked participants to provide background information such as: (a) educational background, (b) title/position, and (c) years of experience. Lastly, I asked the open-ended questions while watching for non-verbal cues, paraphrased as needed, and asked follow-up probing questions to ensure rich and in-depth responses.

# **Participants**

The participants selected for this qualitative multiple case study were four HR managers in human resource departments in Texas who have successful strategies that they are using to increase employee commitment and retention to increase the company's productivity and profitability. In purposeful sampling, a researcher uses their judgement to select the best participants to meet the objectives and answer the research question for the study (Saunders et al., 2016). I used purposeful sampling to select organizations and

HR managers who have successfully used strategies to increase employee commitment and retention to increase the company's productivity and profitability.

The criteria for selecting the organizations are they must employ more than 50 employees. The criteria for the HR managers to participate in this study were they should have been a HR manager for at least 3 years and performed managerial duties to enhance consistent strategies to retain employees to assist with increasing profits and the profitability within the organization. The specific metrics included demonstrating increased rates of employee retention and maintaining strategies to increase profits stability of the organization. The baseline for success was HR leaders managing a productive team that showed a track record of retaining employees while the organization is increasing profits.

To gain access to participants for this study and to learn more about the phenomenon of this study, I obtained information from the organization's website to learn about the history, mission, and objectives, which is all public information. The organizations' websites include the HR managers' contact information: their name, email, and phone number.

One key component of developing a working relationship with the participants was relaying truthful information and being honest about the interview protocols along with the intentions for the study. The interview protocol (see Appendix) included the same established interview question script for all participants, and I concluded each interview by asking participants if they had any additional information to share.

Researchers should establish a trust-based relationship with the participants on the intended purpose and outcome of the study to demonstrate competence, benevolence, and quality (Keszey, 2015). To establish a working relationship with participants, I provided a statement of purpose and the results I intend to receive from the study. To ensure confidentiality, I masked their names by establishing a system to identify participants by letter instead of names. I also provided participants with an informed consent document to ensure they understood the risks and benefits associated with participating in the study.

The criteria I used to select the participants ensured their characteristics aligned with my study. I contacted each HR manager by email to request a 20-minute initial meeting. I introduced myself, presented the research question, and explained the overall framework of my study. In this meeting, my goal was to establish a trust-based relationship with my participants to relieve any fear. I attempted to create an inviting environment to gain knowledge as I prepared for the semistructured interview process by describing the rights of participants and the importance of the strategies developed, and while I presented opened-ended interview questions. The use of open-ended questions and reliance on participants responses mean that the researcher should avoid making frequent interruptions but cover the themes and questions indicated and probe responses in the time of availability (Saunders et al., 2016). Individuals who met the minimum qualifications of the study and agreed to the interview process were asked to sign a consent form before proceeding with the interview.

## Research Method and Design

A qualitative research method was chosen to conduct semistructured interviews to understand strategies that HR managers used to increase productivity and profits within the organization. A multiple-case study design was used to acquire in-depth knowledge from interviewees about retention strategies used by HR managers. The phenomenon required multiple sources to provide evidence.

### Research Method

For this study, I chose the qualitative research method to understand which strategies HR managers used to increase employee commitment and retention to increase the company's productivity and profit. Research that is considered high quality and whose findings demonstrate high reliability require experienced respondents suitable for answering the research questions meaningfully (Maramwidze-Merrison, 2016). In this study, I sought rich vivid insights into the strategies HR managers used to increase profits and productivity within the organization to reduce the retention rate.

Conversely to the quantitative method, a researcher uses the qualitative method as a social inquiry to understand the meaning of experiences of human action (Bradbury-Jones et al., 2017). Participants of a qualitative study engage with the researcher by sharing their knowledge and experience to transfer valuable information (Fletcher, 2017). As a researcher, I used a qualitative method to engage participants to provide a thorough summary of their experiences for the researcher to compare and contrast amongst other participants. The process of comparing HR managers' experiences and strategies was a

way that I gained understanding of the meaning of experiences of human actions. In quantitative research, deductive analysis is represented through theories, hypotheses, equations, and numerical data to observe the results of the study (Edwards, 2019). The mixed research method is used to expand and strengthen the study by using both qualitative and quantitative research methods to formulate a conclusion of the study. My intentions for conducting qualitative research was to explore strategies used to increase employee commitment and retention to increase the company's profit and productivity. I did not test a hypothesis, which is part of a quantitative study or the quantitative portion of a mixed methods study, and therefore, I used the qualitative research methodology in this study. I selected the qualitative research method as the preferred method to identify themes and explore HR managers' strategies in their work environment. The qualitative case study suited the needs of this study more than a quantitative or mixed method approach to understand the strategies HR managers use to increase employee commitment and retention while the company continues to increase productivity and profit.

# Research Design

For this study, the qualitative multiple-case study design was used. A case study is an in-depth inquiry into a topic within a real-life setting (Saunders et al., 2015). A case study is a research design that involves an investigation to determine a phenomenon using multiple sources of evidence, which makes it an ideal design for this study. I chose a multiple case study because replication is suitable for the nature of the chosen case

population. A single case study approach was not chosen because I did not intend to observe and analyze a phenomenon that few have considered before. Researchers use case studies to explain, describe, and or explore events that occurs in everyday contexts (Yin, 2014). The case study design aligned with the research method because this design allowed for data collection methods such as Zoom face-to-face semistructured interviews with open ended questions of participants with knowledge to answer specific research questions with details, analysis of relevant records of documents of strategies used, and observations (direct and participants) to determine the strategies that increase retention.

Ethnography and phenomenology are other qualitative research designs (Lambert & Lambert, 2012). A researcher conducting an ethnographic study inquires and captures ways in which a group of people produce social life through everyday reactions such as rituals, linguistics, materials, and symbolistic behaviors (Ghaffari et al., 2019). However, the ethnography research design was not appropriate for this study because I did not study a group of people to understand and describe their actions from the past. A phenomenology research design is an appropriate method to seek understanding of individuals' pure perceptions and perspectives of their experiences (Ghaffari & Lagzian, 2018). I did not select the phenomenological research design for my study because I did not wish to interpret the meaning of lived experiences of a particular group.

The ultimate goal when conducting research is to answer the research question.

Data saturation is reached when there is enough information to replicate the study, when the ability to obtain additional new information has been attained, and when further

coding is no longer feasible (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Aldiabat and Le Navenec (2018) described data saturation as building rich data to support replication while building theoretical aspects of a research inquiry. To achieve data saturation, I thoroughly used all available relevant documentations and recent data, evaluated the responses from participant interviews, and ensured no additional information or themes are found in the data.

# **Population and Sampling**

In this qualitative multiple case study, the population consisted of four HR managers in Texas, who have successfully implemented strategies to increase employee commitment and retention to increase the companies' profitability and profits. These individuals met the participant criteria that defined the population for the study. As a result, the number of initial participants were four HR managers who have demonstrated their knowledge and expertise within human resources.

The purposeful sampling method is one of the most common research methods used for selecting participants in a qualitative study. I used purposeful sampling to explore the strategies that some HR managers used to increase employee commitment and retention to increase the company's productivity and profitability. The purposeful sampling involves the identification and selection of willing individuals or groups who have the experience or knowledge pertaining to the phenomenon (Palinkas et al., 2015). The power of purposeful sampling lies in the selection of information-rich cases for in depth study inquiry (Suri, 2011). Furthermore, the selected participants remained

available to participate, communicate their experiences, and offer their opinions in a reflective manner. Palinkas et al. (2015) concluded sampling methods must be consistent and intended to maximize efficiency and validity along with reaching saturation. As a result, data saturation is a notification that no new substantive information was acquired to the comprehensive understanding of the study.

In a qualitative study, sample size is not determined until data saturation is reached as justification for the use of acquiring a sample size (Boddy, 2016). A single case study may have multiple interviews and other sources of data because no other knowledge or ideas are presented to compare data. Boddy (2016) noted that developing an in-depth understanding is the purpose of conducting a qualitative study. The sample size for qualitative studies is generally much smaller than those used in a quantitative study, however a larger sample size could become time consuming and require intensive labor (Mason, 2010). I used purposeful sampling to select four managers within HR departments with the necessary expertise and experience to contribute to this study. The participants of this study included HR managers who have been in that position for at least 3 years, perform managerial duties, and employ at least 50 or more employees within their organization. The expertise of the HR managers assisted with answer the research question and enhance the findings of this study.

I interviewed four HR managers, but I was prepared to interview additional respondents to achieve data saturation. Sanders et al. (2018) reported that when there was repetitive information from the participant pool, replication of themes, and no additional

information forthcoming from new participants, data saturation is achieved. All researchers should be clear and concise presenting research findings (Nascimento et al., 2018). The criteria for selecting participants were their position as an HR manager within an organization in the state of Texas. The participants must be HR managers of an organization for at least 3 years with proven successful leadership skills. The criteria for the interview setting included the participant agreeing to a scheduled semistructured interview for a minimum of an hour in their office space or via zoom in a quiet setting with only the researcher and participant present. I attempted to conduct each interview in a setting that the participant is most comfortable and to enable the participant to respond with their truthful and personal experiences.

### **Ethical Research**

Before beginning my research, I completed the Institutional Review Board (IRB) application regarding ethical research. IRBs are regulatory committees that are mandated to approve, oversee, and maintain ethical standards for human subjects' research (Blackwood et al., 2015). The purpose of the IRB application was to protect human rights of the study participants. Data collection begin once I obtained approval from the IRB. The final manuscript included the Walden IRB approval number 06-09-21-0721145. The next step was to obtain informed consent from each participant and ensure they fully understand the study by identifying the purpose, their role as a participant, my responsibilities as a researcher, and the confidentiality procedures before conducting the research. The informed written consent indicated the participants willingness to

participate in the study and to ensure they understood the risks and benefits and their role in the study. The informed consent also ensures the confidentiality of the research data (Blackwell et al. 2015). According to Plutzer (2019), researchers have a professional and ethical obligation to protect the privacy of participants by providing informed written consent to avoid passive data collection, data linkage, and archiving the replication of data. The written consent form informed participants that their participation is voluntary, there were no incentives for participating, and participants are free to withdraw from the study at any time without acquiring penalties. Participants were also informed of the ways to communicate their intention to withdraw from the study at any time by email, telephone call, or in person.

Researchers establish trust among the participants to ensure integrity, effective communication, fairness, and sharing control as the necessary elements to building trust (Erdem & Aytemur, 2018). I maintained integrity in all of my communications with the participants as I expected each participate to adhere to this expectation to ensure trustworthiness. The participants' names or the name of their organization were not disclosed in my findings; data protection measures were taken to label the study participants using designators from P1 to P4, where *P* referred to the participant. The responses from participants included codes, which makes it difficult to link participants to their responses, and ensure the participants and organizations remain confidential. After the study, I sent participants a summary of the findings. I used a fireproof safe to secure all data, including the informed consent form, any recorded data, hard copies of

the research data and transcripts, and information related to individuals or organizations participating in the study. Further, electronic data were protected on a thumb drive which will also be stored in the safe for 5 years. After 5 years, I will destroy all of the information by shredding the paper documents and erasing any e-data.

### **Data Collection**

As the researcher for this study, I was the primary data collection instrument. In qualitative research, the researcher is the primary data collection instrument and data is collected through interviews, observations, and self-administered questionnaires (Prada-Ramallal et al., 2017). Data collected for a particular research study was considered primary data that was specific to the research question.

On the contrary, secondary data is collected from databases that were established for other purposes such as a books or articles (Prada-Ramallal et al., 2017). Case study researchers collect data from multiple data resources and use methodological triangulation to cross reference the data source to determine if both sources lead to the same conclusion and relevant analysis (Aczel, 2015). As part of the data collection process, I gathered and triangulate information from semistructured interviews, documents, company materials, and public information. Qualitative researchers employ data triangulation to collect multiple data sets utilizing a variety of methods to strengthens the results (O'Leary, 2019). Data triangulation enhanced the effectiveness of reliability and validity of the data instrument and the collection process.

I conducted semistructured interviews via zoom with protocols that apply to the research question, research method, and the research design. Interviews were a data collection process that is vital to obtaining accurate and effective data during the research process (Martin, 2000). Peesker et al. (2019) argued semistructured interviews provided a rich set of data analysis that enables respondents to share experiences leading to a deeper understanding of a rich set of data analysis. Conversely, structured interviews have a predetermined list of questions while an unstructured interview lacks format and may cover a range of subjects (Marin, 2000). I developed an interview protocol to ensure consistency throughout the process of capturing HR managers' experiences and perceptions related to their strategies to increase the profits and profitability of their organization (see Appendix A). Researchers apply a particular approach using an interview protocol to guide the interview with open-ended questions and highlight the linkage of the research methods (Hoffman, 2009). The final interview question in the semistructured or informal interview frequently asked the participant to share any additional information the participants would like to share.

Research reliability of the instruments can be achieved through accuracy while validity is accomplished through the reproducibility of data through research instruments (Jordan, 2018; Md & Yupsof, 2011). I used member checking and method triangulation as the criteria to establish validity and reliability of the study results by asking the participants to verify the details of the interview. I asked each participant to verify their responses through member checking to ensure that I provided an accurate representation

of the information and allow the participant to make changes before I analyze the data. Validation and reliability are achieved by allowing participants to make changes if in their opinion their responses were interpreted incorrectly (Reysen et al., 2019). Member checking is a participant validation technique used to verify the accuracy of the conclusions once the research is complete (Naidu & Prose, 2018). Triangulation contributes to the trustworthiness of the data collected while offering validation to ensure the use of multiple data collection methods (O'Leary, 2019). Method triangulation utilizes more than one method to study a phenomenon and provides validity and enhances understanding such as interviews and observations (Paul, 1996). Triangulation and member checking helped the to establish creditability and contribute to trustworthiness. Validity assisted with drawing conclusions when similarities and themes were confirmed by different data sources.

#### **Data Collection Instruments**

In order to address the research question, I sought to identify the strategies that HR managers used to increase employee commitment and retention to increase the company's productivity and profits utilizing a qualitative case study to collect data. A case study is a research design that relies on multiple sources of data collection to generate an in-depth understanding of real-life context to recommend practical courses of action to resolve a problem (Vaz et al., 2020). The process of collecting data are achieved through interviews, focus groups, direct or participant observations, and the review of

company/archival documents. The analysis requested the participants to provide documentation supporting their claims in the interviews.

According to Roberts et al. (2014), the disadvantages of an open-ended interview is the cost to systematically analyze and interpret the responses. Also, open-ended interviews are time consuming to conduct and analyze (Roberts et al., 2014). The advantages of conducting an open-ended interview are that the researcher will gain rich qualitative data and real participant insights (Kelle, 2006). The advantages of collecting archival data or documentation is to have a valid support for evidence of information found. The disadvantages of archival data and documentation is observing invalid information that does not pertain to the study casing the results to be invalid.

I utilized member checking to ensure validity and accuracy of the participants responses to interviews by confirming my interpretation of their responses. The purpose of member checking was to confirm that your conclusions represent the participants, responses accurately after the interview and initial analysis. Member checking is a process where participants review a summary of their responses for accuracy and allows participants to expand, amend, or include additional raw data (Brear, 2019). Member checking was a tool for participants to ensure their insights were known clearly.

According to Birt et al. (2016) member checking provided participants an opportunity to engage with, add to, interview, and interpret insights clearly to reveal accurate results during qualitative research. Participants were inspired by providing their insights and personal experiences. Qualitative research is an exploratory tool that allows the

researcher to interpret and make sense of participants experiences that assists with the surface of new insights for a particular social phenomenon (Bansai et al., 2018).

After I obtained IRB approval, my protocol for data collection included contacting at least four human resources managers to request an interview. The primary source of data collection conducted semistructured interviews. The goal of conducting interviews was to gain information to answer the research question. Data saturation is reached when there is no new information and research becomes repetitive during the research process (Carmichael & Cunningham, 2017). I conducted individual interviews face-to-face on site at the organization or at a location designated by the interviewee, via Zoom, or over the telephone. I used member checking and data triangulation to support dependability and creditability. At the beginning of the interview, I explained the purpose of the research to the interviewee. After the interview, I transcribed the responses from the interview, summarize my interpretations of the responses, and ask the participant to validate their responses. Once the interview is complete, I evaluated the interviews to develop codes and themes to determine if data saturation has been reached. I achieved data saturation after the fourth interview, I stopped interviews to avoid a negative impact on the validity of research.

### **Data Collection Technique**

Data organization helps ensure reliability of research data because the techniques will help address results that are stable, consistent, ensure privacy, and information security of the research data (Prasad, 2019). Data organization techniques include

organizing data by subcategories, themes, or the interpretation that emerges from the analysis (Spiggle, 1994). Data organization in a qualitative study allows the researcher to ensure conformability, reliability, and dependability while concluding and confirming themes that describes the data (Prasad, 2019).

The intent of organizing data in a spreadsheet is to (a) use as a tool for data entry (b) storage, (c) develop analyses, and visualization (Broman & Woo, 2018). I utilized a research log as my primary data organizing technique to collect, record, track, and organize all interview information along with any other data collected throughout this study. The purpose of a research log is to assist researchers with keeping track of their research process through a journey or story by describing and reflecting on their personal research process (Fluk, 2015). I documented my personal research experience in a reflective journal to reflect on the process. Mladenovic et al. (2019) highlighted a reflective journal as a fundamental skill to reflect on knowledge, experiences, explore values, stimulate critical thinking, and help make connections between theory and practice.

Research logs were used as a reflective journal, interview responses, and relevant internal or external corporate documents were entered into NVivo software to assist in organizing the data into codes and themes. I used NVivo to record the collection of data and used patterns to determine the commonality within the data.

I identifed and stored all digital files reated to the research in a folder that was protected by a password while I am conducted research. Since my reseach is complete, I

will store the data for 5 years, which is an IRB requirment. After 5 years, I will delete all data from the computer memory or temorary storage devices and shred all documents and physical evidence related to the research.

### **Data Analysis**

For my case study, methodological triangulation was the appropriate data analysis process. Methodological triangulation uses multiple methods to obtain detailed data about a phenomenon through interviews and observations, to understand reality (Abdalla et al., 2018). Better data are obtained from using multiple methods that may have been overlooked otherwise while viewing a single object from the lens of triangulation (Huettman, 1993). There are four types of triangulation: (a) data triangulation, (b) theoretical triangulation, (c) researcher triangulation, and (d) methodological triangulation. Abdalla et al. (2018) suggested that triangulation improves the quality in qualitative research, contributes to construct validity, and provides an alternative to obtain new knowledge through new viewpoints. The data are transformed into descriptions of themes, patterns, or theoretical models for the researcher to interpret during the data analysis process (Haven & Van Grootel, 2019).

The data analysis process for this qualitative case study differed from a quantitative data analysis process by focusing on key themes. Study participants allow the researcher to explore, describe, understand, or interpret a phenomenon to gain insight to understand personal experiences during the qualitative research approach (Quartirolli et al., 2017). I began with an analysis of all the primary data form the semistructured

interview questions, company documents and websites, along with a review from my research log and journals. I utilized Yin's five steps in data analysis: (a) compiling, (b) dissembling, (c) reassembling, (d) interpreting, and (e) concluding (Yin, 2014). Next, I used a three-step process that included (a) inputting the data into the NVivo software program, (b) searching for themes within the data, and (c) manually checking for accuracy and redundancy. NVivo is a qualitative data analysis software that assists researchers to organize data more efficiently, making it easier to code data (Welsh, 2002).

The first step involved inputting data into the NVivo qualitative data analysis software. Bergeron and Gaboury (2020) suggested that NVivo is an analytic method that also facilitates identifying patterns and ensuring transparency during the data analysis process. In the second step, I used codes to search and identify themes from the interview transcripts. Coding is a key data organizing structure that allows researchers to identify, organize, and build data while emerging themes in qualitative research (Williams & Moser, 2019). Coding relies on recognizing patterns based on the descriptions in the original text (Glaser & Laudel, 2013). As a result, researchers reach data saturation after a deeper understanding of multiple participants' experiences (Vaughn & Turner, 2016). As I developed common themes, I gained an increased understanding of HR managers strategies for increasing the profits and profitability of the organization.

In the final step, I checked the semistructured interview transcripts of the participants for accuracy and redundancy as I finalized the data analysis process. During the data analysis process, I engaged in identifying and correlating the key themes with the

literature and the conceptual framework of ET to develop a conclusion. Themes were found during reoccurring concepts and ideas within a study (Vaismoradi & Snelgrove, 2019). The fundamental principle of the ET as a conceptual framework is to explain and predict human behavior in organizations (Baumann & Bonner, 2017). The ET offered guidelines to engage with HR managers, leaders, and researchers about critical factors that may influence attributes of contributing to low productivity and profits within an organization. The use of existing literature and the ET provided a framework for developing strategies for guidelines to avoid failures resulting in low profitability

## Reliability and Validity

For every research study, reliability and validity are components to complete both quantitative and qualitative research. In addition, the analogous criteria that is not measurable for qualitative studies are creditability, confirmability, and transferability. The goal of objectivity must be accepted by a qualitative researcher, which requires attention to reliability and validity (Bellenger et al., 1986). The criteria used to measure validity and reliability in a qualitative study includes methods such as member checking and triangulation. The process to enhance the dependability of a study included checking data interpretation, transcript review, pilot test, expert validation of interview questions, interview protocol, and direct or participant observation protocols. Once data saturation is reached it helps to assure the dependability of the findings. Jordan (2018) emphasized that validity is used to address whether the data collected accurately reflect the

phenomena under inquiry, while reliability focuses on the reproducibility of the data produced by the research instruments involved.

### Reliability

Researchers demonstrate reliability when the data collection process is stable and consistent. Qualitative researchers strive to incorporate and design methodological strategies to ensure the finding are trustworthy (Noble & Smith, 2015). To demonstrate dependability, I described the research process, details for gathering data, and the evaluation of the effectiveness of the process of the study. I performed member checking to ensure reliability. Member checking refers to a process that allows participants an opportunity to objectify their personal experiences theoretically, check for accuracy, expand, amend, or comment on the research results (Brear, 2019). I provided the participates with a summary of their responses from the interview, which allowed them to ensure the accuracy of data they provided, edit any incorrect information, add more details, and provide insights on their responses in the member checking process to obtain accuracy.

### **Dependability**

To ensure reliability in my research, I used member checking of data interpretation and transcript review to help ensure dependability. The description of the research process, details for gathering data, and the evaluation of the effectiveness of the process of the study to demonstrate dependability (Funder et al., 2014). The process that allowed participants an opportunity to objectify their personal experiences theoretically,

check for accuracy, expand, amend, or comment on the research results is member checking. Data saturation was an indication that there is no information, and it helped to assure dependability of findings.

### Validity

This qualitative research focused on understanding the strategies of HR managers to increase the productivity of employees while maintaining and increasing profits of the organization. In research, validity assists with verifying how the conceptual can be utilized accurately (Matthes & Ball, 2019). Validity ensures rigor and the trustworthiness of research (Le Roux, 2017). Researchers have created criteria to identify validity to include (a) subjectivity, (b) self-reflexivity, (c) resonance, and (d) creditability (Holmlund, et al., 2020).

# Credibility

In qualitative research studies, creditability helps to improve research outcomes through validation and verification with the use of tools and techniques (Shufutinsky, 2020). Member checking is used to improve creditability in research, which can foster increased rigor and transparency and promote an increase in confidence, trustworthiness, and creditability of the research findings. Establishing creditability is an essential indicator for a strong qualitative inquiry that utilizes techniques to apply, blend, and justify findings (Liao & Hitchoock, 2018). Accuracy and accountability are attributes of accountability which entails increasing accurate findings along with adequate

documentation (Abernathy et al.,2017; Liao & Hitchoock, 2018). I used member checking to ensure creditability and enhance the accuracy of this study.

Member checking ensures validation of data collected. Creditability and the contribution to trustworthiness is established during the member checking process as an iterative process (Naidu & Prose, 2018). At the beginning of the interview, I explained the purpose of my research. After the interview, I transcribed responses from the interview and provided an interpretative summary to the participants of their responses via email to ensure that I captured their intended meanings.

# **Transferability**

Transferability occurs when the researcher enables others to determine techniques to adhering to analysis techniques. Transferability occurs when the results of a study are not generalizable or transferable (Carcary, 2020). In qualitative research, transferability is used to provide evidence to the reader in relation to the outcome of the research (Daniel, 2019). I demonstrated how the findings of this study was transferable to others through the explanation of the data collection and analysis techniques, the interview protocol, reaching data saturation, and the final report to include the final report meeting the transferability requirements.

### **Confirmability**

Confirmability is the process of ensuring that the results can be confirmed or supported by others. I used member checking as a technique to enhance confirmability. In qualitative research, the process of validating that the data collected is interpreted

correctly for the participant to gain conclusions that are trustworthy, defensible, unbiased, and plausible (Shufutinsky, 2020). The purpose of this research was to provide unbiased information based on the responses from the semistructured interviews and follow-up member checking to enhance confirmability of the data.

### Data Saturation

To ensure validity in my research, I used the methodically triangulation method to collect information until I reached data saturation to help assure the creditability, transferability, and confirmability of the findings. Data saturation is reached when no additional information or themes are forthcoming from new participants (Aldiabat & LeNavenec, 2018). Data saturation served as an indication that data collection has concluded. An indication of data saturation is when there is enough information to replicate the study and no further coding is feasible (Kerr, 2010). There is a negative impact on the validity of research when data saturation is not reached in a study (Fusch & Ness, 2015). In research, validity ensures accuracy of data and data saturation ensures that there is no new information.

# **Transition and Summary**

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that some HR managers used to increase employee commitment and retention to increase the company's productivity and profit. The study consisted of three sections, which included the foundation of the study, the project, and the application to professional practice and implications for change. In Section 1, I introduced the foundation of the study, topic, and

the problem statement. I presented information about the background of the problem, the problem statement, and the need to solve an applied business problem.

In Section 1, I reviewed a selection of scholarly literature on strategies that some HR managers use to increase employee commitment and retention to increase the company's productivity and profit. In Section 2, I discussed the study methodology, details of the research design, the target population for the study, the interview instruments that I used for data collection, and conduct interviews while collecting the responses to address the research questions. Finally, in Section 3 I presented my findings relevant to the research question. Section 3 contains the results of the completed research and the themes human resources managers to increase employee commitment and retention to increase the company's productivity and profit. This study included a discussion of the findings in the context of implications for social change, recommendations for action, suggestions for further study, and my reflections on the research study.

# Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

In this qualitative multiple case study, I examined strategies used by some HR managers to increase employee commitment and retention to improve productivity and profitability of the company. Data were collected from four human resource managers via semistructured interviews and document reviews. Participants answered seven openended questions and follow up questions regarding HR strategies employed at their organizations. Information from each data source was compared using methodological triangulation. Vroom's (1964) ET, used as the conceptual framework, aligned with the HR strategies revealed by participants. In my analysis of participants' responses, I identified themes HR managers used to increase employee commitment and retention to increase profits and productivity, including boosting employee morale, communicating with employees, and rewarding employees.

## **Presentation of the Findings**

One overarching research question guided this study: What strategies do HR managers use to increase employee commitment and retention in order to increase productivity and profitability? Through Zoom, I conducted semistructured interviews and examined documents participants provided, such as the four companies website. Participants in this study were HR managers in the state of Texas who manage 50 or more employees in their organization. During the interviews, participants provided strategies they used to boost employee engagement and retention at work, leading to

improved productivity and profits for their companies. In my data analysis process, I identified three key themes: (a) improving employee morale, (b) effectively communicating with employees, and (c) rewarding employees.

The data saturation point was reached when I stopped identifying new themes from semistructured interviews and company documents. After collecting the participants' data, I categorized them using a letter-and-number system. For each leader, a P symbol was used, and a number was combined with each to maintain a chronological order. During the interviews, participants were labeled P1, P2, P3, and P4. Based on ET, the three following themes emerged: (a) boosting employee morale, (b) effectively communicating with employees, and (c) rewarding employees. For each company document, a CD symbol was used, and a number was combined with each to maintain a chronological order. During the interviews, company documents were labeled CD1, CD2, CD3, and CD4. All of the emergent themes aligned with ET, and strategies were provided by HR managers to increase employee commitment and retention in order to increase organizational productivity and profitability. Table 1 provides the three themes that emerged and the number of times the themes were addressed by respondents.

Table 1

Emergent Themes

Nodes/themes	Number of respondents	Number of times the theme was addressed
Improving Employee Morale	4	42
Communication	4	27
Rewarding Employees	3	19

Table 2

Company Documents

Nodes/themes	Number of documents	Number of citations correspond to theme
Improving Employee Morale	4	4
Effective Communication	2	2
Rewarding Employees	3	3

# **Emergent Theme 1: Improving Employee Morale**

In the interviews with participants, improving employee morale was one of the most frequently mentioned strategies. The participants' experience indicates that recognizing their employees' unique qualities helps them validate their role in achieving increased

productivity and profitability. Vroom (1964) associated the term *improving employee morale* with motivating employees by ensuring they are valued and part of achieving organizational goals. By setting workplace goals, providing feedback about the process, and rewarding employees in an equitable and fair manner, motivation for productivity can be enhanced (Robbins, 1990). P2 stated,

Goals of the organization are established during onboarding and during monthly meetings. Employees obtain feedback on best practices such as enrolling in professional development classes offered by the organization to assist with reaching organizational goals. We want to continue to reward our employees by providing incentives such as recognition to our employees for putting forth an effort.

HR managers must continue to create and implement strategies that will increase employee commitment and retention to increase the company's productivity and profit.

In Interview Questions 1 and 2, I inquired about the strategies HR managers employed to improve productivity and profitability within the four organizations. In response, Participants 1, 2, 3, and 4 each from a different organization provided similar aspects of demonstrating their worth to employees while ensuring that they understand the organizations' goals to retain employees, boost employee morale, and create a healthy work environment. According to P1, "We are really building the belief that employees are an integral part of the work we do. As part of our onboarding process, we explain *why* the work is so vital. We emphasize culture and what motivates our people to do their best

work." Specifically, P2 stated, "HR managers' aims [sic] of being clear with measures of accountability is an important aspect of building employee morale by finding a healthy work balance between employee independence and accountability. Therefore, it clarifies our employees' expectations." P3 stated, "We are focusing on reaching out to our employees and informing them of our expectations, as well as offering additional training." Finally, P4 stated,

Our company strives to be transparent, consistent, and welcoming the input from our employees. We encourage employees to get involved and contribute to creating strategies that continues to motivate our employees to be productive. One of the primary things when you talk to your employees you think about how they feel about the communication going forward to them and engaging them in the process so that they are assured that they are valued as an employee. Employees are responsible for the productivity itself. If you can get positive participation from the employees that is what aids in the process for the projected outcome. Brainstorming sessions with employees can lead to a positive outcome for the future of the organization.

All the participants provided similarities in their response to informing their employees of clear expectations, which allowed employees the opportunity to commit to being a productive employee and contributing to the positive financial growth of the company. The participants from all four organizations agreed that creating a workplace for employees that is inviting would contribute to their professional growth.

The practices of strategic HRM, including competency-based training, competency-based compensation, and team-based staffing, can enhance individual knowledge and experience of the employee, which in turn increases productivity and profitability of the company (Trivedi & Srivastava, 2021). P1 expressed, "Individual check-ins and newsletters that highlight different departments and people with their accomplishments helps boost employee morale and employee productivity." The CD1 newsletter highlighted an Employee of the Month:

Our Support Staff of the Month is Mrs. S. Mrs. S has one of the most challenging jobs at our organization. She is constantly on the move providing check-in support, accommodation support, and assisting with planning staff events and deescalating challenging situations. She does this all with a smile and a calm demeanor. Mrs. S is truly one of a kind and we are fortunate to have her working with our staff. Thank you, Mrs. S, for all that you do!

The productivity of workers is genuinely influenced by their motivation, so if they are motivated, then they will work with a greater degree of determination, which will eventually boost productivity (Alam et al., 2020). According to P2, "We communicate regularly through group messenger and team meetings." CD2 used a reflection log that documented how managers took the responsibility of creating a secondary communication platform through group messenger and team meeting space to connect and stay informed with employees. "The retreat provides an opportunity to talk about

goals, strengths, and weaknesses, which allow the team to grow and perform better." A positive attitude towards work can motivate an employee to be engaged and productive.

An employer can motivate their employees by providing them with development opportunities and a good working environment. Employee satisfaction contributes to their performance (Okoth et al., 2019). P3 stated, "We conduct performance evaluations to inform our employee of their strengths and ways that the organization can improve reaching our desired goals." CD3 was a blank copy of an employee performance form that could be used to evaluate an employee's progress, weaknesses, improvements, and goals. P2 noted that employee performance evaluations needed to be "accurate, complete, and timely in assessing the employee's work." Performance evaluations are conducted annually during a one-on-one meeting with the manager and employee to review their progress and provide constructive feedback. Employees expect their employer to convey ways for the organization to remain cohesive. As P4 stated, "One of the best ways of creating total transparency in communication and incorporation and integration of new ideas are devised through brainstorming sessions with employees."

I reviewed the strategic plan for P1's organization, which outlined the organization's commitment to creating a supportive environment for physical, mental, and emotional wellbeing. CD1 stated that the organizational strategic plan presented that "The ways to increase retention and decrease turnover is by implementing 'The Five R's': Review, Revamp, Relationships, Reconnect, and Rise." The organization's HR department typically reviews their current strategic plan, and then develops a new

strategic plan that would help strengthen the organizational goals, establish stronger relationships with other community businesses, reconnect with employees through one-on-one check-in sessions, and gather all information to make the corporate culture and work environment one that continues to motivate and retain productive employees to continue to be promoted by meeting organizational goals. The Five R's allowed the organization to go through the cycle of building, creating, and implementing a strategic plan that will enhance the organization to reach goals faster. Organizations that value their employees and encourage employees' wellbeing in addition to performance contribute to employees' high levels of motivation. Employee morale was improved by HR managers ensuring employees knew and understood the expectations, valuing feedback, being transparent, and creating an inviting culture, which reflected an organizational culture that inspires motivation and empowers employees.

## How Findings Correlate to the Literature

The findings from the literature confirm that HR managers must implement strategies to increase employee commitment and boost employee morale in order to increase profitability and productivity. The participants acknowledged that they had to develop employee strategies that were most effective in motivating, engaging, retaining, and committing their employees to the organizational goals. An employee's outlook is influenced by their employers by providing an environment that promotes a positive attitude, satisfaction with their jobs, and confidence to perform their duties. Bonner and

Baumann (2017) found that the theory of expectancy may be used to understand coordination and not observe behavioral choices and as a motivation.

The aim of affective commitment is to enhance employee morale in the workplace to ensure both the employer and employee gain from the organization's success.

Affective commitment is an emotional attachment that an employee develops toward organizational values that impacts an employee's organization-relevant behavior (Paolucci et al., 2018). P1stated,

The pandemic forced us to make changes to accommodate our employees.

Employees were very appreciative for the opportunity to work an alternate work schedule as long as there was coverage to ensure they were able to take care of their families during this uncertain time. Employees seem to be more committed, and we saw an increase in productivity to get the job done due to the organization allowing an alternative schedule.

Hodgkinson et al. (2018) posited that an employer has the power to influence employee commitment. The literature and findings confirm that HR managers are in charge of boosting employee morale with a variety of strategies that fit both the needs of employees and the corporate culture. Jayasingam et al. (2016) noted that employees sought affirmations of their affective commitment through job satisfaction, extrinsic rewards, constituent attachments, organizational commitment, and organizational prestige.

# How Findings Correlate to the Conceptual Framework

In order to increase productivity and profitability, HR managers use strategies similar to Vroom's (1964) ET in order to increase employee commitment and retention. It was Vroom's ET that paved the way for understanding the need for workplace motivation strategies. Vroom stated that one of the three factors of motivation is expectancy. My study confirmed that outlined job expectations and performance measurements are a leading factor in employee commitment. P1 stated,

During the onboarding process, we make sure employees know the "why," our strategic plan, and their job expectations to influence a positive experience that directly reflects their commitment to their performance. It speaks volumes about our increase in performance and commitment because we have had employees that have left and came back and got onboarded the old versus the new onboarding process and they recognized that it was all new and improved.

HR managers revealed that they currently leverage a variety of strategies to increase employee satisfaction, including emphasizing their value, helping them understand organizational goals, implementing culture, establishing clear measures of accountability, and being transparent. P1 stated,

Our strategies include social media posts, and mentoring. We are really focused on building up the belief that employees are a part of the work. During the onboarding process we want the employees to understand that there is a bigger picture than just a job and that this is more about why you are serving the

organization and making sure that culture is the focus, and the why behind the work. Culture is so important to each employee and provides a diverse group of employees working together as a team for the betterment of the organization. The individual check-ins and recognition of employees through social media posts and weekly Newsletters that highlights different departments and different people. We are really trying to show our employees once they are here that we are what we said we are and that we want them to be a part of that.

Employers who proactively promote employee commitment to increase employee morale engage employees in the organizational culture while implementing expectations for employees to be retained and committed to a competitive work environment. Nimri et al. (2015) discovered that by creating strategies of commitment, HR managers revealed that expectancy is the belief that effort can lead to a specific level of performance. A proactive HR manager who develops a plan for retaining their employees, keeping them committed, and motivating them establishes an expectation that a particular act will bring a desired result for the employee (Glišović et al., 2019). Clear strategic goals have a positive effect on employee motivation, which leads to increased productivity and profitability, HR managers might be able to gain a competitive edge by improving employee morale leading to greater retention and committed employees resulting in increased productivity and profitability.

### **Emergent Theme 2: Effective Communication**

The data analysis process revealed that the effective communication theme was the second most important theme. According to HR managers, implementing effective communication measures such as newsletters, personalized emails, and one-on-one meetings are an opportunity to establish a healthy relationship with employees. This form of communication also allows employees to feel comfortable communicating concerns as well as contributing ideas that promotes future growth of the organization. In this way, employees have a sense of belonging, and their voices are being heard and actions are taken on their behalf. Leaders play a central role in encouraging and nurturing employee proactivity. Binyamin et al. (2018) explained an effective leader uses communication skills to motivate staff to achieve organizational goals. HR managers used communication to enhance employee relationships to improve organizational performance, commitment, and retention.

In Vroom's expectancy theory, leaders suggested that communicating to employees about recognition and rewards would lead to an increase in clear employee expectations and performance requirements. According to the organization's website, organizations want their employees to be well informed of the organization's goals. P4 stated,

Maintaining an open line of communication with the employees to meet employee needs as far as the assignments that they have been assigned are concerned and also to get their feedback on how they are adjusting to the changes and their

understanding of expectations, timelines, deliverables, and consequences for poor performance in their job. In order to have a voice in the matter, they must ask direct questions to give you knowledge on how the decision will impact them, so that they may be comfortable with the request that is being made.

CD1 provides immediate communication updates on the website with new information such as the strategic plans, performance evaluation updates, organizational events, opportunities for professional development. Leaders who are open and honest about recognition and rewards associated with performance increase employee satisfaction and loyalty. P2 stated, "An ongoing communication process, meeting monthly with supervisors to discuss job performance, feedback, and clarity." CD2 were noted by HR Mangers on a goggle sheet document the date of the meeting, job performance progress, and action items for the employee and manager to track progress at future meeting. Managers and employees can establish a healthy relationship through open, honest, and frequent communication. P1 stated, "The goal is that people feel empowered when they come onboard." According to P3, "We are more intentional about reaching out to our employees in different ways to provide support and communication in regard to conferences that help address open communication tools." Employees who are not motivated will not be empowered and will not be as productive as an employee who feels valued and apart of the team needed to succeed.

Managers would benefit from using Vroom's expectancy theory of motivation to communicate with and influence employees by setting clear expectations that could lead

to specific rewards or positive outcomes. As a result of reviewing the company's website and documents, I was able to triangulate participants' statements regarding communication by validating the statements of participants matched with the company's website and documents. CD4, the organization's website, provides electronic communication about resources such as training, professional development, virtual events, and conference opportunities for employees. Effective communication is provided in many forms to meet the needs and expectations of employees, such as in-person or digitally. Participants emphasized the importance of communicating organizational goals to their workers, supporting them, and motivating them to create a positive work environment that matches Vroom's theory of expectancy.

# How Findings Correlate to the Literature

The findings from the study confirm and extend knowledge that communication is a strategy utilized to promote healthy communication for work relationships. P1 stated that employees were willing to provide feedback and recommendations to assist the company reach their goals of continuing to motivate and retain committed employees. The participants noted that their approach to communication with their employees improved manager-employee relationships, performance, commitment, and retention. Johnson (2020) posited that the development of strong employee relationships is a management approach that can be adopted by using three key conversation pillars: understanding, coaching, and recognizing. Participates confirmed that communication from HR managers made employees feel empowered, connected, valued, and supported.

Communication is the link between management and employees. Thomas (2016) argued that leaders are responsible for establishing engagement efforts to gain the feedback of employees to succeed in continuous process improvement and maintain a healthy corporate atmosphere and corporate culture to increase organizational performance.

The aim of communication is to provide work performance details and expectations to employees to ensure they are aware of organizational goals. Employees are empowered by learning organizational expectations to promote a high level of productivity. P4 stated, "Employees are eager to learn about expectations if they can also contribute suggestions to continue to enhance the growth of the organization." According to Jha et al. (2019) research on employee voice suggested that providing employees with the sense that it is safe to speak up to their managers about their concerns, ideas, and suggestions can have very positive effects on employee behavior inside organizations. Open and frequent communication within an organization provides managers and employees the opportunity to collaborate on work related concerns. P1 stated, "We do not micromanage our employees instead we promote frequent one-on-one meetings to connect with our employees to help strengthen our line of communication to express concerns and suggestions." P2 stated, we use google sheets to document our employeemanager meetings to ensure we keep records of communication. This process allows managers and employees to track communication of all discussions for reference." Milliken (2016) argued that many employees feel they cannot speak up about issues or offer ideas or suggestions because doing so could lead to negative consequence.

Open communication between HR managers and their employees can yield valuable feedback and establish healthy communication channels for employees to communicate concerns, hence retaining committed employees that increase productivity and profitability for the benefit of the company.

### How Findings Correlate to the Conceptual Framework

HR managers increase organizational communication, through strategies similar to Vroom's model (1964) to incorporate expectancy theory into their organizational processes and protocols that will continue to motivate employee, which retains committed employees to be productive and increase organizational profits. It was Vroom's expectancy theory which helped pave the way for understanding the need for workplace motivation strategies. Vroom stated that one of the three factors of motivation is instrumentality, which is the belief that there is a connection between activity and goal, which requires effective communication from the HR manager and the employee. The study findings confirm that communication is a leading factor in promoting healthy relationships to increase productivity and profitability levels. Using the study's findings, HR managers revealed that they currently are creating new ways to communicate and include employees in decisions and providing useful feedback for the future success of the organization. P1 stated, "We checked in regularly through group messenger and regular team meetings. We also have annual Team Retreats about conversations of goals, strengths, and weakness allowing an opportunity to grow and perform better as a team." Instrumentality is an opportunity for an employee to achieve a desired outcome of

positive valence (Glišović et al., 2019). Positive outcomes lead to higher productivity results of employee performance and desired incentives, which is an opportunity to retain committed employees to increase employee productivity and profitability of the organization.

### **Emergent Theme 3: Rewarding Employees**

The third theme generated from data analysis was rewarding employees. HR managers retaining committed employees for their work efforts and rewarding them for performing at a high level of productivity that is increasing the profitability of an organization is a core concept in Vroom's Expectancy Theory. The expectancy theory focus on the thoughts of employees being motivated to achieve organizational rewards. The expectancy theory posits that HR managers that effectively communicate to their employees about the expectations, goals of the organization, and clearly define the incentives links to favorable employee performance. The different rewards that employers offer to their employees as rewards are flexibility, recognition, and wellness benefits. Employees appreciate the effective communication leading to higher productivity while employees are earning initiatives and targets and goals of profitability are reached by top management.

The participants in the study noted that they had to make some changes to rewards and benefits that were desirable to employees due to the pandemic. P1 stated, "We reviewed our retention improvement plan to ensure our goal was to focus-on equity, diversity, and inclusion, which the results showed that there was an increase in a diverse

applicant pool and encouraged past employees to return due to changes and new implementation." According to CD1, the organization began to see an increase in a diverse applicant pool due to changes that attracted employees and new rewards that employees could gain, which has retained current employees and motivated them to remain committed while increasing productivity leading to an increase of organizational profits. Employees tend to succeed more at work when their personal values align with their work goals to perform at a high level of productivity while contributing to the goal of increasing organizational profits. P1 noted, "We recruit a wide range of qualified applicants to ensure that we have a diverse workforce while implementing employees with rich culture backgrounds that is valuable to the employees experience. P3 stated, "We have seen the excitement of our employees when we recognize their personal values such as work life balance of not requiring employee to work after hours and encouraging family time." Some employees are inspired by the opportunity to work with a diverse group and consider it rewarding to communicate and collaborate with variety of people from different backgrounds.

The possibility of allowing employees to be creative and use their innovative skills to assist with improving processes within the organization. P2 stated, "We gave employees ownership of new projects for the betterment of the organization. Giving an opportunity for everyone to contribute to the team outside of their normal job duties. During COVID, we have definitely retained employees with all of the flexibility, communications, and new clear metrics in place". CD2, a google sheet document,

provided clarification of rewarding employees on their individual projects that notated the progress of the results to share with the team. Employee were recognized as a form of a reward during team meetings for their efforts of successfully implementing a project. The possibility of retaining employees during difficult time such as a Pandemic can be a challenging, but HR mangers must be proactive and meet the needs of their employees. P3 stated, "We revised our employee wellness and assistance programs. We are offering our employees up to five free counseling sessions per issue to help cope with most recent challenges of managing COVID. CD3 notated on the website about the employee wellness programs and assistance programs. The programs are provided as an incentive or reward for employees to take advantage of while managing professional or personal issues to help employees to promote work-life balance of a productive employee. The groups include support and networking outlets." Often times employers are unable to provide monetary rewards but are able to reward employees in other ways that that are valuable to them. P4 stated,

We do not have any incentives per say, but we have an annual recognition program, team building efforts, and non-work-related opportunities for lunch without the work hassle. Each and every organization is unique at motivating and retaining their employees to provide rewards, incentives, and resources to ensure that employees are valued often through non-monetary valuable measures, while also creating strategies to encourage employees to perform at a high level and while contributing to the profitability growth of the organization.

# How Findings Correlate to the Literature

The findings from this study confirm and extends knowledge that rewarding employees is a strategy utilized to motivate employees to be more productive and contribute to the profitability and success of the organization. P1 noted, "The pandemic allowed us to recognize and reward our employees more for their efforts such as quarterly recognition for performance achievement. The participants noted that their approach to rewarding employees were not monetary but provided valued added rewards that would benefit employees. P3 stated, "The most popular nonmonetary benefit due to the pandemic were the five free counseling sessions per issue for employees and their dependents to seek assistance for personal issues." Mead (2018) posited that benefit incentives are rewards that can enhance an employee's life by offering monetary rewards, promotions, paid supplemental benefits, retirement match, and continued employee workforce development. Rewarding employees is the link between employee productivity and organizational success. Stewart (2017) argued that organizational leaders initiate simple, meaningful incentive programs to boost recruiting and retention efforts to remain competitive and increase performance along with profits.

By rewarding employees, the organization is aiming to increase productivity and the company's profits. Employees are motivated and empowered by rewards that are valuable to their professional and personal lives. Mauser (2018) posited the most admired incentives offered include tuition reimbursement, annual employee appreciation events, paid leave, holiday pay, birthday holidays, paid health insurance, and employer matched

retirement contributions. Amad et al. (2020) argued that every employer has a competitive advantage that attracts prospective employees to the organization. P1 stated, "Employees enjoy the employee appreciation events and the paid leave the most as a notable valuable employee reward that all employees are given." Employers have the ability to develop strategies that benefits and attracts potential employees.

Employers can retain and motivate employees by considering new and improved benefit incentives. The knowledge for the literature extends that employers can promote organizational growth through profits and maintaining productive employees. De la Torre-Ruiz et al. (2019) emphasized that employee satisfaction is closely linked to receiving reward benefits that serve as the key to influencing affective reactions towards the firm. HR managers that develop reward incentives for their employees promote positive and more productive work efforts to influence organizational success.

## How Findings Correlate to the Conceptual Framework

HR managers revealed that they currently are creating new ways to communicate and include employees in organizational decisions. Including employees in the decision-making process creates a virtuous cycle in which employee input and feedback leads to the future success of the organization. Instrumentality is the perception that a first level outcome will lead to a second level outcome, which allows an opportunity for an employee to achieve a desired outcome of positive valence. Positive outcomes lead to other results of performance and desired incentives, which is an opportunity to increase

motivation among employees, other employers, and HR managers (Torre-Ruiz et al., 2019).

In order to reward employees, HR managers should consider the use of the strategies similar to the ones used by Vroom (1964) to initiate rewards and incentives for employees. It was Vroom's expectancy theory which paved the way for understanding the need for motivation strategies. Vroom stated that one of the three factors of motivation is valence, which refers to if the employee finds the rewards desirable. If the reward is not desirable by the employee, they are less likely to remain motivated and productive. The study findings addressed the impact of rewarding employees as an important factor in retaining committed employees that will be productive and aid in increasing profits to sustain organizational growth. HR managers revealed that they are implementing reward incentives that their employees' value. P1 stated, the feedback during one-on-one meetings and performance evaluations noted that employees enjoy the rewards and incentives offered by the employer." The one-on-one meetings with employees noted that HR departments and managers want to develop and implement new reward incentives to motivate prospective employees and remain a competitive employer in the industry.

## **Application to Professional Practices**

In this study, I explored strategies used by HR managers to increase employee commitment and retention in order to enhance productivity and profitability of a business. Based on the study's findings, employers could implement strategies that would

increase employee commitment and retain productive employees that will help to increase profits for the organization. By considering these findings, organizational leaders could diminish the gap in business practice with regard to boosting employee motivation and retaining committed employees, increasing productivity and profitability.

Additionally, these results provide actionable solutions of boosting employee morale, effective communication, and rewarding employees to increase retention and enhance profitability.

My research involved interviewing four HR managers at companies in Texas who implemented strategies to improve employee commitment and retention to increase productivity and profitability. The HR managers valued their employees and were willing to continue to create strategies to maintain employees that are motivated and committed to ensure the company is productive. In their organizations, participants were directly engaged in motivating and encouraging staff growth and commitment by boosting employee morale for the organization to succeed, effectively communicating with employees through one-on-one meetings, and rewarding employees through non-monetary rewards of diversity, flexibility, recognition, wellness. All organizations, regardless of the number of employees, may benefit from the findings of this study.

By categorizing the themes and providing supporting details, organizational leaders may be able to enhance employee engagement, increase employee retention, improve productivity, and boost profitability. It is more likely that employees will remain in a positive working environment where they can grow when they feel valued,

appreciated, and their work is valued. According to Gowan (2003), strategies are created for successful marketing, business plans, retention, and profitability to encourage support the organization. The specific strategies are engagement, retention, and ways to increase productivity (Rompho, 2017). Productivity and profitability strategies may include allowing employees and HR managers to collaborate on projects. Productivity may be increased by offering employee incentives such as stock or recognition for their valuable service. An organization with a healthy and motivating work environment can form a solid model for creating a work environment that will engage employees, increase productivity, and maximize profitability. The mission of any organization should be to see the organization grow and flourish as it operates.

# **Implications for Social Change**

The implications for positive social change from this study involved effective communication strategies HR managers used to increase employee commitment that would encourage employees to feel valued for their work. The intent of this study was to identify a variety of strategies along with tools and resources that may decrease turnover and provide motivation that could lead to commitment to promote an increase in productivity from employees and profits for the overall performance of the organization.

I obtained feedback from HR managers implementing effective employee commitment strategies within their organization to increase employee's ability to learn, grow, and feel valued as an employee. The HR strategies identified in this study such as improving employee morale, creating effective communication protocols, and rewarding

employees are reflective on creating an environment that will allow employees to grow and strengthen their skills.

The findings of this study contain practical leadership strategies leaders can use to increase productivity and profitability in the workplace. Leaders decisions have an opportunity to create a positive reflection on the goals and needs of the organization. By taking a proactive approach to improving the work environment, implementing effective communication methods, and informing employees on the advantages of incentives that offered can create a motivation for employee and their efforts to be productive. HR managers primary goal is to improve retention, motivation, and commitment to achieve an increase in productivity that reflects positivity of the profits of the organization.

#### **Recommendations for Action**

The data collected from participant interviews might lead to new insight on strategies that HR managers use to motivate, retain, engage, and reward their employees. Organizations should implement culture that creates an environment for the employees' openness in communication, freedom of innovation and creativity, enjoy work accomplishment, and work with dignity and respect (Yumnam & Elangbam, 2019). HR managers must recognize the significance of implementing positive management strategies that sustain employee motivation and high levels of productivity. Disengaged employees affect the productivity and profitability of an organization, which is the driver of organization success. Employees should know the importance of their role and that they are valued. My recommendations for action include establishing frequent

communication between manager-employee, utilizing employee feedback, enhancing training, ensuring expectations are clear, reward acknowledgements, updating processes that are no longer relevant, and practicing transparency. Involving employees in decision making demonstrates teamwork and allows everyone to be a part of making the organization processes more efficient, which increase productivity and profits.

Leaders are responsible for building a good motivational system that the organization can increase value and competitiveness. Employees are more committed and productive in a working environment under less stress with support from their leader or manager (Krstic at el., 2019).

HR managers who fail to implement effective employee commitment strategies might have an adverse on the productivity and profitability of the organization. In addition, the knowledge shared by the participants may assist with contributing to retaining committed employees through productivity measures, organizational growth with an increase in profits. The successful implementation of effective strategies could change the way leaders communicate and engage with their employees to retain happier employees that are rewarded for their performance.

The findings are examples of effective leadership strategies to build employee morale, communication, and reward employees. The results of this study could help HR managers implement more effective strategies to maintain high productivity levels among employees in the workplace. The information collected in this case study would be beneficial to organization new hire orientation, professional development, and one on one

meetings between employees and managers. The participants will receive a copy of the study results and the results will also be available on ProQuest. I recommend HR leaders (a) continue to build employee morale, (b) encourage effective communication, and (c) reward employees for their positive work efforts.

#### **Recommendations for Further Research**

The intent of the qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that HR managers use to increase employee commitment and retention in order to improve productivity and profitability in Texas. There are many variables that might affect employee commitment, but participants shared their personal experiences as managers and their successful strategies. The data collected may serve as a resource for other HR managers looking for new strategies to assist with retaining employees while creating a healthy working environment. Scholars could extend the research by selecting another geographic location or interviewing employees to gain direct experience of employee commitment. Perhaps even conducting a quantitative study of the correlation between HR manager strategies and employee productivity, effective communication, and employee rewards.

Future scholars could examine management training to enhance strategic ways to develop employee relationships to retain and influence a positive work environment, which could reduce employee turnover while promoting positive work engagement.

Participants mentioned implementing more ways to enhance employee morale, effective ways to communicate and gain feedback from employees, while implementing ways to

reward employees for their high performance. I would also recommend obtaining information from an employee's perspective to determine if the implementation of HR manager strategies is an effective measure to ensure employees are engaged, motivated, are empowered to commit to the productivity and organizational success.

#### Reflections

As a Doctoral Student with many responsibilities, full time worker in the procurement industry, adjunct professor, wife, mother of two young children, active volunteer, and member of organizations there were many challenges I faced throughout my doctoral journey. During my doctoral journey, I experienced one major move out of state, one move in state, planning a wedding, welcoming our new baby girl, and new job opportunities. In addition, learning valuable information to successfully complete my study was more difficult than I had participated. Time management was one of the most challenging throughout my journey and ensuring that I was able to fulfill all of my responsibilities personally and professionally. Obtaining participants willing to commit to participate was a challenge due to many people were not interested because they had so many responsibilities as a manager during the demands of the pandemic. I had to stay motivated during the data collection process and communicating with participants to complete the member checking process.

The lessons learned through the DBA program journey that allowed me to acquire new insight on effective HR management strategies for retaining and motivating employees to be productive and increase profitability within the organization. I was

honored to have the opportunity to connect and interview with four successful HR managers that shared their experiences with implementing employee commitment strategies. I gained knowledge on strategies managers use to retain and increase employee commitment within their organization to maintain a high level of productivity and profitability. The participants were willing to participant in the study and provide valuable knowledge to research among effective HR management strategies to increase a positive work environment. I was encouraged by the way that the participants were committed to provide a positive work environment and experience for their employees. The interview process was a great way to obtain information to help answer the study research question. The findings from this study have provided the insight to drive effective leadership strategies to increase employee productivity within organizations.

## Conclusion

Current and previous research has proven that using commitment strategies to retain and motivate employees to be productive to lead will lead to greater return for the organization by an increase in profits. The opportunity of creating an employee relationship with managers can be a positive incentive as employees create relationships with customers and clients to increase profits for continued organizational success (Sun &Wang, 2017). Relationship building is an opportunity to develop healthy ways to connect and create effective commitment strategies. Employees are more likely to remain with an organization that creates and implements policies and procedures that the employee respects and understands and see themselves as a valued contributing employee

to the success of the organization (Ariyabuddhiphongs & Kahn, 2017). Moreover, HR managers encouraging communication and feedback are creating the ability to sustain a high level of productivity employees to allow their organization to successful.

The findings of this study may help HR managers implement more effective employee commitment strategies that encourage positive manager-employee relationships, promote engagement measures, retain productive employees, and promote healthy forms of communication and feedback to increase employee productivity and profitability. In this study, I conducted semistructured interviews and reviewed company documents to gain insight of the leadership strategies HR managers use to retain employees and increase employee productivity. The participants included four HR Managers from Texas. I identified three themes that emerged from the data analysis process, which were (a) boosting employee morale, (b) communication, and (c) rewarding employees.

I used the expectancy theory as the conceptual framework for this qualitative multi-case study. HR managers from Texas shared in-depth information during the semi structured interviews which aligned with the literature and framework. I used the participants responses from the interview questions to compare data sources using the triangular method. Based on the research findings, I recommend managers in human resources to invest in their employees by continuing to implement commitment and motivational strategies. The data indicated employees respond to positive commitment methods, proactive communication measures such as engagement, rewards, and

motivational strategies to retain productive employees that will promote organizational success.

### References

- Abernathy, J., Stefaniak, C., Wilkins, A., & Olson, J. (2017). Literature review and research opportunities on credibility of corporate social responsibility reporting. *American Journal of Business (Emerald Group Publishing Limited)*, 32(1), 24–41. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/AJB-04-2016-0013">https://doi.org/10.1108/AJB-04-2016-0013</a>
- Acevedo, A. (2018). A personalistic appraisal of Maslow's Needs Theory of Motivation: From "Humanistic" psychology to integral humanism. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 148(4), 741–763. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2970-0
- Aczel, P. (2015). Case study method. *International Journal of Sales, Retailing Marketing*, 4(9),15–22.
- Adashi, E. Y., Walters, L. B., & Menikoff, J. A. (2018). The Belmont report at 40:

  Reckoning with time. *American Journal of Public Health*, 108(10), 1345–1348.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2018.304580">https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2018.304580</a>
- Adeinat, I., & Kassim, N. (2019). Extending the service profit chain: the mediating effect of employee productivity. *International Journal of Quality & Reliability*Management, 36(5), 797–814. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJQRM-03-2018-0064
- Ahmad, A., Khan, M. N., & Haque, M. A. (2020). Employer branding aids in enhancing employee attraction and retention. *Journal of Asia-Pacific Business*, *21*(1), 27–38. https://doi.org/10.1080/10599231.2020.1708231
- Alam, M. N., Hassan, M. M., Bowyer, D., & Reaz, M. (2020). The effects of wages and welfare facilities on employee productivity: Mediating role of employee work

- motivation. *Australasian Accounting Business & Finance Journal*, *14*(4), 38–60. https://doi.org/10.14453/aabfj.v14i4.4
- Aldiabat, K. M., & Le Navenec, C. (2018). Data saturation: The mysterious step in grounded theory methodology. *The Qualitative Report, 23*(1), 245-261. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2018.2994
- Antoni, C. H., Baeten, X., Perkins, S. J., Shaw, J. D., & Vartiainen, M. (2017). Reward management: Linking employee motivation and organizational performance. *Journal of Personnel Psychology*, *16*(2), 57–60. https://doi.org/10.1027/1866-5888/a000187
- Ariyabuddhiphongs, V., & Kahn, S. I. (2017). Transformational leadership and turnover intention: The mediating effects of trust and job performance on café employees in Thailand. *Journal of Human Resources in Hospitality & Tourism*, *16*(2), 215–233. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/15332845.2016.1202730">https://doi.org/10.1080/15332845.2016.1202730</a>
- Aujla, S., & Mclarney, C. (2020). The effects of organizational change on employee commitment. *IUP Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 19(1), 7–22.
- Ball, C., Huang, K.-T., Cotten, S. R., Rikard, R. V., & Coleman, L. O. (2016). Invaluable values: An expectancy-value theory analysis of youths' academic motivations and intentions. *Information, Communication & Society*, 19(5), 618–638.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2016.1139616">https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2016.1139616</a>
- Bárcena-Ruiz, J. (2016). Employee share ownership in a unionised duopoly. *Portuguese Economic Journal*, *15*(3), 173–195. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10258-016-0119-4

- Barnham, C. (2015). Quantitative and qualitative research. *International Journal of Market Research*, *57*(6), 837-854. https://doi.org/10.2501/IJMR-2015-070
- Basheer, M. F., Hameed, W. U., Rashid, A., & Nadim, M. (2019). Factors effecting employee loyalty through mediating role of employee engagement: Evidence from Proton automotive industry, Malaysia. *Journal of Managerial Sciences*, *13*(3), 71–84.
- Basnyat, S., & Clarence Lao, C. S. (2020). Employees' perceptions on the relationship between human resource management practices and employee turnover: A qualitative study. *Employee Relations*, 42(2), 453–470. https://doi.org/10.1108/ER-04-2019-0182
- Baumann, M. R., & Bonner, B. L. (2017). An expectancy theory approach to group coordination: Expertise, task features, and member behavior. *Journal of Behavioral Decision Making*, 30(2), 407–419. https://doi.org/10.1002/bdm.1954
- Bawa, M. A. (2017). Employee motivation and productivity: a review of literature and implications for management practice. *International Journal of Economics*, *Commerce and Management*, *12*, 662-673.
- Beiu, A., & Davidescu, A. A. (2018). An empirical investigation of the expectancy theory among romanian employees. *Journal of Social & Economic Statistics*, 7(1), 19–31
- Bellenger, D. N., Albaum, G., & Stem Jr., D. E. (1986). Reliability and validity in qualitative research/speaking of ethnography. *Journal of Marketing Research* (*JMR*), 23(4), 397–398. https://doi.org/10.2307/3151819

- Bergeron, D. A., & Gaboury, I. (2020). Challenges related to the analytical process in realist evaluation and latest developments on the use of NVivo from a realist perspective. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 23(3), 355–365. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2019.1697167
- Bergin, A. J., & Jimmieson, N. L. (2020). The importance of supervisor emotion recognition for praise and recognition for employees with psychological strain. *Anxiety, Stress & Coping*, *33*(2), 148–164. https://doi.org/10.1080/10615806.2020.1716975
- Bernard, L. C., Mills, M., Swenson, L., & Walsh, R. P. (2005). An evolutionary theory of human motivation. *Genetic, Social, and General Psychology* Monographs, 131(2), 129-184. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3200/mono.131.2.129-184">https://doi.org/10.3200/mono.131.2.129-184</a>
- Binyamin, G., & Brender-Ilan, Y. (2018). Leaders's language and employee proactivity:

  Enhancing psychological meaningfulness and vitality. *European Management Journal*, 36(4), 463–473. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2017.09.004">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2017.09.004</a>
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A

  Tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health*Research, 26(13), 1802–1811. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870">https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870</a>
- Blackman, D. A., Buick, F., O'Flynn, J., O'Donnell, M., & West, D. (2019). Managing expectations to create high performance government. *Review of Public Personnel Administration*, 39(2), 185–208. https://doi.org/10.1177/0734371X17701544

- Blackwood, R. A., Maio, R. F., Mrdjenovich, A. J., VandenBosch, T. M., Gordon, P. S., Shipman, E. L., & Hamilton, T. A. (2015). Analysis of the nature of IRB contingencies required for informed consent document approval. *Accountability in Research: Policies & Quality Assurance*, 22(4), 237–245. https://doi.org/10.1080/08989621.2014.956866
- Bokert, M. E., & Hahn, A. (2020). The benefits of using contract equity to attract, reward, and retain key employees of closely-held companies. *Employee Relations Law Journal*, 45(4), 80–89.
- Bradbury-Jones, C., Breckenridge, J., Clark, M. T., Herber, O. R., Wagstaff, C., & Taylor, J. (2017). The state of qualitative research in health and social science literature: a focused mapping review and synthesis. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 20(6), 627–645.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2016.1270583
- Brear, M. (2019). Process and outcomes of a recursive, dialogic member checking approach: A project Ethnography. *Qualitative Health Research*, *29*(7), 944–957. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318812448
- Bridgman, T., Cummings, S., & Ballard, J. (2019). Who built Maslow's pyramid? A history of the creation of management studies' most famous symbol and its implications for management education. *Academy of Management Learning & Education*, 18(1), 81–98. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5465/amle.2017.0351">https://doi.org/10.5465/amle.2017.0351</a>

- Briggs, E., Deretti, S., & Kato, H. T. (2020). Linking organizational service orientation to retailer profitability: Insights from the service-profit chain. *Journal of Business*\*Research\*, 107, 271–278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.08.038
- Boddy, C. R. (2016). Sample size for qualitative research. *Qualitative Market Research:*An International Journal, 19(4), 426–432. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/QMR-06-2016-0053">https://doi.org/10.1108/QMR-06-2016-0053</a>
- Botha, A., Bussin, M., & de Swardt, L. (2011). An employer brand predictive model for talent attraction and retention. *South African Journal of Human Resource Management*, 9(1), 298–309. <a href="https://doi.org/10.4102/sajhrm.v9i1.388">https://doi.org/10.4102/sajhrm.v9i1.388</a>
- Broman, K. & Woo, K. (2018) Data Organization in spreadsheets. *The American Statistician*, 72:1, 2-10, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/00031305.2017.1375989">https://doi.org/10.1080/00031305.2017.1375989</a>
- Bryson, A., & Camp; Freeman, R. (2016). Profit sharing boosts employee productivity and satisfaction. *Harvard Business Review Digital Articles*, 2-5.
- Carcary, M. (2020). The research audit trail: Methodological guidance for application in practice. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, *18*(2), 166–177. https://doi.org/10.34190/JBRM.18.2.008
- Carmichael, T., & Cunningham, N. (2017). Theoretical data collection and data analysis with gerunds in a constructivist grounded theory study. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, *15*(2), 59–73.

- Castanheira, F., & Story, J. (2016). Making good things last longer: The role of savoring on the relationship between HRM and positive employee outcomes. *Human Resource Management*, 55(6), 985-1000. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21704
- Castanheir, F. (2016). Perceived social impact, social worth, and job performance:

  Mediation by motivation. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 37(6), 789-803.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2056">https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2056</a>
- Cesário, F., & Chambel, M. J. (2017). Linking Organizational Commitment and Work Engagement to Employee Performance. *Knowledge & Process*Management, 24(2), 152–158. https://doi.org/10.1002/kpm.1542
- Chawla, P. (2020). Impact of employer branding on employee engagement in business process outsourcing (BPO) sector in India: mediating effect of personorganization fit. *Industrial & Commercial Training*, *52*(1), 35–49. https://doi.org/10.1108/ICT-06-2019-0063
- Chen, Z., Harford, J., & Kamara, A. (2019a). Operating leverage, profitability, and capital structure. *Journal of Financial & Quantitative Analysis*, *54*(1), 369–392. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1017/S0022109018000595
- Chen, Z. F., Hong, C., & Occa, A. (2019b). How different CSR dimensions impact organization-employee relationships. *Corporate Communications: An International Journal*, 24(1), 63–78. https://doi.org/10.1108/CCIJ-07-2018-0078
- Chen, Z., Hang, H., Pavelin, S., & Porter, L. (2020). Corporate social responsibility and corporate hypocrisy: Warmth, motive and the protective value of corporate social

- responsibility. *Business Ethics Quarterly*, *30*(4), 486–524. https://doi.org/10.1017/beq.2019.50
- Chopra, K. (2019). Indian shopper motivation to use artificial intelligence: Generating Vroom's expectancy theory of motivation using grounded theory approach. *International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management*, 47(3), 331–347. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJRDM-11-2018-0251
- Cole, C. R. (2017). The potential impact of state-based retirement plans on retirement savings. *Journal of Financial Service Professionals*, 71(5), 68-76.
- Collins, C. S., & Cooper, J. E. (2014). Emotional intelligence and the qualitative researcher. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *13*(1), 88-103. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940691401300134
- Cörvers, F., Hensen, M., & Bongaerts, D. (2009). Delimitation and coherence of functional and administrative regions. *Regional Studies*, *43*(1), 19–31. https://doi.org/10.1080/00343400701654103
- Cote, R. (2019). Motivating multigenerational employees: Is there a difference? *Journal of Leadership, Accountability and Ethics, 16*(2), 15-29. https://doi.org/10.33423/jlae.v16i2.2018
- Covella, G., McCarthy, V., Kaifi, B., & Cocoran, D. (2017). Leadership's role in employee retention. *Business Management Dynamics*, 7(5), 1–15.
- Cumyn, A., Ouellet, K., Côté, A.-M., Francoeur, C., & St-Onge, C. (2019). Role of researchers in the ethical conduct of research: A discourse analysis from different

- stakeholder perspectives. *Ethics & Behavior*, *29*(8), 621–636. https://doi.org/10.1080/10508422.2018.1539671
- Daisuke KOSAKA, & Hidenori SATO. (2020). Employee engagement and work engagement: Same wine, different bottles? *Annals of Business Administrative Science*, 19(6), 227–239. https://doi.org/10.7880/abas.0200911a
- Daniel, B. K. (2019). Using the TACT framework to learn the principles of rigour in qualitative research. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 17(3), 118–129. <a href="https://doi.org/10.34190/JBRM.17.3.002">https://doi.org/10.34190/JBRM.17.3.002</a>
- Davlembayeva, D., Papagiannidis, S., & Alamanos, E. (2021). Sharing economy platforms: An equity theory perspective on reciprocity and commitment. *Journal of Business Research*, *127*, 151–166.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2021.01.039">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2021.01.039</a>
- De la Torre-Ruiz, J. M., Vidal-Salazar, M. D., & Cordón-Pozo, E. (2019). Employees are satisfied with their benefits, but so what? The consequences of benefit satisfaction on employees' organizational commitment and turnover intentions. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, *30*(13), 2097–2120. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2017.1314315
- Demircioglu, M. A. (2021). Sources of Innovation, Autonomy, and Employee Job Satisfaction in Public Organizations. *Public Performance & Management Review*, 44(1), 155–186. https://doi.org/10.1080/15309576.2020.1820350

- Edwards, J. R. (2019). The peaceful coexistence of ethics and quantitative research: JBE JBE. *Journal of Business Ethics*, , 1-10. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-019-04197-6">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-019-04197-6</a>
- Emig, M. F. (2001). Profitivity: Maximizing profit through optimum staffing. *Compensation & Benefits Review*, *33*(4), 39. https://doi.org/10.1177/08863680122098522
- Erdem, F., & Aytemur, J. Ö. (2008). Mentoring--A relationship based on trust:

  Qualitative research. *Public Personnel Management*, *37*(1), 55–65.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/009102600803700104
- Farah, B. (2017). Profitability and big data. *Journal of Management Policy & Practice*, 18(2), 47-52.
- Fehér, J., & Reich, M. (2020). Perceived impacts of company workplace health promotion on employment relationship. *Journal of Eastern European & Central Asian Research*, 7(3), 238–254. https://doi.org/10.15549/jeecar.v7i3.357
- Feher, K. (2021). Digital identity and the online self: Footprint strategies An exploratory and comparative research study. *Journal of Information Science*, 47(2), 192–205. https://doi.org/10.1177/0165551519879702
- Fletcher, A. J. (2017). Applying critical realism in qualitative research: methodology meets method. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 20(2), 181–194. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2016.1144401">https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2016.1144401</a>

- Fluk, L. R. (2015). Foregrounding the research log in information literacy instruction. *Journal of Academic Librarianship*, *41*(4), 488–498. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acalib.2015.06.01
- Foy, T., Dwyer, R. J., Nafarrete, R., Hammoud, M. S. S., & Rockett, P. (2019).
  Managing job performance, social support and work-life conflict to reduce workplace stress. *International Journal of Productivity & Performance Management*, 68(6), 1018–1041. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-03-2017-0061">https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-03-2017-0061</a>
- Frey, R., Bayón, T., & Totzek, D. (2013). How customer satisfaction affects employee satisfaction and retention in a professional services context. *Journal of Service Research*, 16(4), 503-517. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094670513490236
- Fung, C., Sharma, P., Wu, Z., & Su, Y. (2017). Exploring service climate and employee performance in multicultural service settings. *Journal of Services*Marketing, 31(7), 784–798. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSM-08-2016-0316
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(9), 1408-1416.
- Funder, D. C., Levine, J. M., Mackie, D. M., Morf, C. C., Sansone, C., Vazire, S., & West, S. G. (2014). Improving the dependability of research in personality and social psychology: Recommendations for tesearch and educational practice. *Personality & Social Psychology Review (Sage Publications Inc.)*, 18(1), 3–12. https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868313507536

- García-Cruz, J., Real, J. C., & Roldán, J. L. (2018). Managerial perceptions of employees' affective commitment and product innovation. *Economics of Innovation & New Technology*, 27(3), 290–305. https://doi.org/10.1080/10438599.2017.1346163
- Gardner, G. (1977). Is there a valid test of Herzberg's two-factor theory? *Journal of Occupational Psychology*, *50*(3), 197–204. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8325.1977.tb00375.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8325.1977.tb00375.x</a>
- Gassen Balsan, L. A., Flores Costa, V. M., Dias Lopes, L. F., Schaurich dos Santos, A., Vizzotto Balsan, F. B., & Bittencourt Bastos, A. V. (2020). Influence of support transfer of training on the organizational commitment and organizational entrenchment links. *Brazilian Journal of Management / Revista de Administração Da UFSM*, 13(5), 1017–1031. https://doi.org/10.5902/1983465936979
- Gawankar, S., Kamble, S. S., & Raut, R. (2015). Performance measurement using balance score card and its applications: A Review. *Journal of Supply Chain Management Systems*, 4(3), 6–21. <a href="https://doi.org/10.21863/jscms/2015.4.3.009">https://doi.org/10.21863/jscms/2015.4.3.009</a>
- Ghaffari, M., Hackley, C., & Lee, Z. (2019). Control, knowledge, and persuasive power in advertising creativity: An ethnographic practice theory approach. *Journal of Advertising*, 48(2), 242–249. https://doi.org/10.1080/00913367.2019.1598310
- Ghaffari, K., & Lagzian, M. (2018). Exploring users' experiences of using personal cloud storage services: a phenomenological study. *Behaviour & Information*Technology, 37(3), 295–309. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/0144929X.2018.1435722">https://doi.org/10.1080/0144929X.2018.1435722</a>

- Ghose S. K., & Mohanty, P. K. (2016). Innovative recognition and reward strategy as a tool for employee engagement: An empirical study on private retail banking in odisha. CLEAR International Journal of Research in Commerce & Management, 7(3), 8–10.
- Giamporcaro, S., Gond, J.-P., & O'Sullivan, N. (2020). Orchestrating governmental corporate social responsibility interventions through financial markets: The case of french socially responsible investment. *Business Ethics Quarterly*, *30*(3), 288–334. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1017/beq.2019.40">https://doi.org/10.1017/beq.2019.40</a>
- Gläser, J., & Laudel, G. (2013). Life with and without coding: Two methods for early-stage data analysis in qualitative research aiming at causal explanations. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 14(2), 1–37.
- Glišović, M. A., Jerotijević, G., & Jerotijević, Z. (2019). Modern approaches to employee motivation. *Ekonomika*, 65(2), 121–133. https://doi.org/10.5937/ekonomika1902121A
- Goede, R., & Boshuizen, van B. C. (2019). A critical system thinking approach to empower refugees based on Maslow's theory of human motivation. *Systems Research & Behavioral Science*, *36*(5), 715–726.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/sres.2623">https://doi.org/10.1002/sres.2623</a>
- Gowan, A. (2003). Why customer knowledge will be key to building profits from data. *Precision Marketing*, 15(32), 14.

- Grover, S., Sengupta, S., Chakraborti, T., Mishra, A. P., & Kambhampati, S. (2020).

  Radar: Automated task planning for proactive decision support. *Human-Computer Interaction*, *35*(5/6), 387–412. https://doi.org/10.1080/07370024.2020.1726751
- Guzak, J. R., & Kang. (2018). Culture, competencies and compensation: A framework for pay for performance incentives. *American Journal of Management*, 18(4), 33–48. <a href="https://doi.org/10.33423/ajm.v18i4.182">https://doi.org/10.33423/ajm.v18i4.182</a>
- Hambly, K., Kumar, R. V., Harcourt, M., Lam, H., & Wood, G. (2019). Profit-sharing as an incentive. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, *30*(20), 2855–2875. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2017.1334149
- Haque, A., Fernando, M., & Caputi, P. (2019). The relationship between responsible leadership and organizational commitment and the mediating effect of employee turnover intentions: An empirical study with Australian employees. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 156(3), 759–774. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-017-3575-6
- Hart, C., & Schlesinger, L. (1991). Total quality management and the human resource professional: Applying the baldrige framework to human resources. *Human Resource Management*, *30*(4), 433–454. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.3930300402
- Hegarty, B. (2018). Tech recruiting: how to attract and retain employees in today's full employment economy. *Strategic HR Review*, *17*(5), 265–266. https://doi.org/10.1108/SHR-10-2018-147
- Hodgkinson, I. R., Hughes, P., Radnor, Z., & Glennon, R. (2018). Affective commitment within the public sector: antecedents and performance outcomes between

- ownership types. *Public Management Review*, *20*(12), 1872–1895. https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2018.1444193
- Hoffman, D. M. (2009). Multiple methods, communicative preferences and the incremental interview approach protocol. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, *10*(1), 1–19.
- Holmlund, M., Witell, L., & Gustafsson, A. (2020). Viewpoint: getting your qualitative service research published. *Journal of Services Marketing*, *34*(1), 111–116. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSM-11-2019-0444
- Hughes, K., Hughes, J., & Cocq, F. P.-L. (2020). Introduction: making the case for qualitative interviews. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 23(5), 541–545. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2020.1766756
- Huettman, E. (1993). Using triangulation effectively in qualitative research. *Bulletin of the Association for Business Communication*, *56*(3), 42. https://doi.org/10.1177/108056999305600318
- Hwang, G.-H., Yoon, H. J., & Choi, M. (2020). Soft TQM practices and employee outcomes: A mediational analysis. *Quality Management Journal*, *27*(3), 147–158. https://doi.org/10.1080/10686967.2020.1767007
- Jang, J., & Kandampully, J. (2018). Reducing employee turnover intention through servant leadership in the restaurant context: A mediation study of affective organizational commitment. *International Journal of Hospitality & Tourism* Administration, 19(2), 125-141. https://doi.org/10.1080/15256480.2017.1305310

- Jayasingam, S., Govindasamy, M., & Garib Singh, S. K. (2016). Instilling affective commitment: insights on what makes knowledge workers want to stay. *Management Research Review*, 39(3), 266-288. https://doi.org/10.1108/MRR-03-2014-0060
- Jeung, C., Yoon, H. J., & Choi, M. (2017). Exploring the affective mechanism linking perceived organizational support and knowledge sharing intention: A moderated mediation model. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 21(4), 946-960. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/JKM-12-2016-0530">https://doi.org/10.1108/JKM-12-2016-0530</a>
- Jha, B., & Kumar, A. (2016). Employee engagement: A strategic tool to enhance performance. DAWN: *Journal for Contemporary Research in Management*, *3*(2), 21–29.
- Jha, N., Potnuru, R. K. G., Sareen, P., & Shaju, S. (2019). Employee voice, engagement and organizational effectiveness: a mediated model. *European Journal of Training & Development*, 43(7/8), 699–718. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/EJTD-10-2018-0097">https://doi.org/10.1108/EJTD-10-2018-0097</a>
- Johnson, J. S. (2015). Qualitative sales research: an exposition of grounded theory. *Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management*, *35*(3), 262–273. https://doi.org/10.1080/08853134.2014.954581
- Johnson, C. (2020). Why improving employee and manager relationships is vital to boost engagement. *Strategic HR Review*, *19*(2), 67–70. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/SHR-01-2020-0003">https://doi.org/10.1108/SHR-01-2020-0003</a>

- Jordan, K. (2018). Validity, reliability, and the case for participant-centered research:

  Reflections on a multi-platform social media study. *International Journal of Human-Computer Interaction*, *34*(10), 913–921.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/10447318.2018.1471570
- Kai-Ting Lee. (2020). Internal marketing, job Satisfaction, and organizational commitment: A case study of Taiwan indigenous television. *International Journal of Organizational Innovation*, *12*(4), 190–215.
- Kang, D., Kim, M., & Kwak, S. S. (2017). Positive and negative reinforcement strategy for behavior inducement type intelligent product. *International Information Institute (Tokyo)*. *Information*, 20(11), 8109-8116.
- Kang, M., & Sung, M. (2017). How symmetrical employee communication leads to employee engagement and positive employee communication behaviors. *Journal* of Communication Management, 21(1), 82–102. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/JCOM-04-2016-0026">https://doi.org/10.1108/JCOM-04-2016-0026</a>
- Kanat-Maymon, Y., Elimelech, M., & Roth, G. (2020). Work motivations as antecedents and outcomes of leadership: Integrating self-determination theory and the full range leadership theory. *European Management Journal*, *38*(4), 555–564. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2020.01.003">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2020.01.003</a>
- Kelle, U. (2006). Combining qualitative and quantitative methods in research practice:

  Purposes and advantages. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*(4), 293-311.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1478088706070839">https://doi.org/10.1177/1478088706070839</a></a>

- Kerr, C. (2010). Assessing and demonstrating data saturation in qualitative inquiry supporting patient-reported outcomes research. *Expert Review of Pharmacoeconomics & Outcomes Research*, *10*(3), 269-81. https://doi.org/10.1586/erp.10.30
- Keszey, T. (2015). The role of market researchers in managerial use of market research Information. *Trziste / Market*, *27*(1), 43–56.
- Khan, S. I. (2015). Does affective commitment positively predict employee performance? Evidence from the banking industry of Bangladesh. *Journal of Developing*Areas, 49(6), 429-439.
- Khodakarami, N., & Dirani, K. (2020). Drivers of employee engagement: differences by work area and gender. *Industrial & Commercial Training*, *52*(1), 81–91. https://doi.org/10.1108/ICT-06-2019-0060
- Klink, R. R., Zhang, J. Q., & Athaide, G. A. (2021). Measuring customer experience management and its impact on financial performance. *European Journal of Marketing*, 55(3), 840–867. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/EJM-07-2019-0592">https://doi.org/10.1108/EJM-07-2019-0592</a>
- Koderisch, M., Wuebker, G., Baumgarten, J., & Baillie, J. (2007). Bundling in banking

   A powerful strategy to increase profits. *Journal of Financial Services*Marketing, 11(3), 268-276. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.fsm.4760050">https://doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.fsm.4760050</a>
- Kornelakis, A. (2018). Why are your reward strategies not working? The role of shareholder value, country context, and employee voice. *Business Horizons*, *61*(1), 107–113. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2017.09.010">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2017.09.010</a>

- Krajcsák, Z. (2019). Leadership strategies for enhancing employee commitment in TQM. *Journal of Management Development*, *38*(6), 455–463. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-02-2019-0056
- Krstic, M., Obradovic, V., Supic, Z. T., Stanisavljevic, D., & Todorovic, J. (2019).
  Motivational factors of employees in health care institutions in
  Serbia. Management: Journal of Sustainable Business & Management Solutions in Emerging Economies, 24(1), 33–41.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.7595/management.fon.2018.0022">https://doi.org/10.7595/management.fon.2018.0022</a>
- Lambert, V. A., & Lambert, C. E. (2012). Editorial: Qualitative descriptive research: An acceptable design. *Pacific Rim International Journal of Nursing Research*, *16*(4), 255–256.
- Lanka, E., Lanka, S., Rostron, A., & Singh, P. (2021). Why we need qualitative research in management studies. *RAC Revista de Administração Contemporânea*, *25*(2), 1–7. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1590/1982-7849rac2021200297.en">https://doi.org/10.1590/1982-7849rac2021200297.en</a>
- Lee, H.-W. (2019). Moderators of the motivational effects of performance management:

  A comprehensive exploration based on expectancy theory. *Public Personnel Management*, 48(1), 27–55. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091026018783003
- Le Roux, C. S. (2017). Exploring rigour in autoethnographic research. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 20(2), 195–207. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2016.1140965

- Levitan, J., Mahfouz, J., & Schussler, D. L. (2018). Pragmatic identity analysis as a qualitative interview technique. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 19(3), 218–239. https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-19.3.3032
- Lloyd, R., & Mertens, D. (2018). Expecting more out of expectancy theory: History urges inclusion of the social context. *International Management Review*, *14*(1), 24–37.
- Li, Z., Chen, Z., & Hui, Y. (2019). Portfolio selection through Maslow's need hierarchy theory. *Applied Economics*, *51*(4), 364–372. https://doi.org/10.1080/00036846.2018.1496223
- Liao, H., & Hitchcock, J. (2018). Reported credibility techniques in higher education evaluation studies that use qualitative methods: A research synthesis. *Evaluation & Program Planning*, 68, 157–165.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2018.03.005
- Ling, F. Y. Y., Ning, Y., Chang, Y. H., & Zhang, Z. (2018). Human resource management practices to improve project managers' job satisfaction. *Engineering Construction & Architectural Management (09699988)*, 25(5), 654–669. <a href="https://doi.org./10.1108/ECAM-02-2017-0030">https://doi.org./10.1108/ECAM-02-2017-0030</a>
- Mahmood, A., & Sahar, A. (2017). Impact of psychological empowerment and perceived career support on employee work engagement with the mediating role of affective commitment. *Pakistan Journal of Commerce & Social Sciences*, 11(3), 1084-1099.

- Matthes, J. M., & Ball, A. D. (2019). Discriminant validity assessment in marketing research. *International Journal of Market Research*, *61*(2), 210–222. https://doi.org./10.1177/1470785318793263
- Maramwidze-Merrison, E. (2016). Innovative methodologies in qualitative research:

  Social media window for accessing organizational elites for interviews. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, *14*(2), 157–167.
- Martin, L. A. (2000). Effective data collection. *Total Quality Management*, 11(3), 341–344. https://doi.org/10.1080/0954412006856
- Mason, M. (2010). Sample size and saturation in PhD studies using qualitative interviews. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 11(3), 1–19.
- Mauser, J. (2018). How to effectively use 'carrots' in your wellness program. *Strategic HR Review*, 17(2), 95–96. https://doi.org/10.1108/SHR-01-2018-0006
- McKnight, M. A., Robey, S. L., McKnight, J. L., & Marcuson, M. D. (2020). Applying the phillips evaluation model to the balanced scorecard: Measuring an organization's learning & growth (innovation) perspective. *Journal of Theoretical Accounting Research*, *16*(1), 144–161.
- Md. Ali, A., & Yusof, H. (2011). Quality in qualitative studies: The case of validity, reliability and generalizability. *Issues in Social & Environmental Accounting*, 5(1/2), 25–64. https://doi.org/10.22164/isea.v5i1.59
- Mead, L. M. (2018). Can Benefits and Incentives Promote Work? *Journal of Policy*Analysis & Management, 37(4), 897–903. https://doi.org/10.1002/pam.22072

- Meurer, A. M., & Costa, F. (2020). Behold the best and worst of me: the impostor phenomenon and academic behavior in the business area. *Revista Contabilidade* & *Finanças USP*, 31(83), 348–363. https://doi.org/10.1590/1808-057x201910370
- Meyer, J. P., Becker, T. E., & Vandenberghe, C. (2004). Employee commitment and motivation: A conceptual analysis and integrative model. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 89(6), 991–1007. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.89.6.991
- McDougall, G. (2001). Customer retention strategies: When do they pay off?. Services

  Marketing Quarterly, 22(1), 39.
- Mehralian, G., Nazari, J. A., Rasekh, H. R., & Hosseini, S. (2016). TOPSIS approach to prioritize critical success factors of TQM. *TQM Journal*, *28*(2), 235–249. https://doi.org/10.1108/TQM-03-2014-0028
- Meyer, J. P., & Parfyonova, N. M. (2010). Normative commitment in the workplace: A theoretical analysis and re-conceptualization. *Human Resource Management Review*, 20(4), 283–294. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2009.09.001">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2009.09.001</a>
- Michael, B., Prince, A. F., & Chacko, A. (2016). Impact of compensation package on employee retention. *CLEAR International Journal of Research in Commerce & Management*, 7(10), 36 40.
- Milliken, F. J., & Tatge, L. (2016). How employee voice helps community engagement. *IESE Insight*, (29), 31-37.

- Milliken, F. J., Schipani C. A., Bishara N. D., & Prado, A. M. (2015). Linking workplace practices to community engagement: The case for encouraging employee voice. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, 29(4), https://doi.org/10.5465/amp.2013.0121
- Minton-Eversole, T. (2007). Less Engagement, Less Profit, Research Finds. *HR Magazine*, 52(12), 20.
- Mladenovic, R., Martinov-Bennie, N., & Bell, A. (2019). Business students' insights into their development of ethical decision-making. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *155*(1), 275–287. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-017-3523-5
- Mohajan, H. K. (2018). Qualitative research methodology in social sciences and related subjects. *Journal of Economic Development, Environment & People*, 7(1), 23–48. https://doi.org/10.26458/jedep.v7i1.571
- Moin, M. F. (2018). The link between perceptions of leader emotion regulation and followers' organizational commitment. *Journal of Management Development*, 37(2), 178–187. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-01-2017-0014
- Mölk, A. (2018). Structures, strategizing, and contested territories: A structuration perspective on strategy development in employer branding. *Scandinavian Journal of Management*, *34*(4), 326–334. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scaman.2018.10.003">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scaman.2018.10.003</a>
- Moosa, I. A. (2019). The fragility of results and bias in empirical research: an exploratory exposition. *Journal of Economic Methodology*, 26(4), 347–360. https://doi.org/10.1080/1350178X.2018.1556798

- Moullin, M. (2017). Improving and evaluating performance with the Public Sector Scorecard. *International Journal of Productivity & Performance*Management, 66(4), 442–458. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-06-2015-0092
- Myrna, J. W. (2010). Strategic delegation: The key to increased productivity and higher performance. *Employment Relations Today (Wiley)*, *37*(1), 51–60. https://doi.org/10.1002/ert.20285
- Naidu, T., & Prose, N. (2018). Re-envisioning member checking and communicating results as accountability practice in qualitative research: A South African Community-Based Organization Example. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 19(3), 783–797. https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-19.3.3153
- Nairn, K., Showden, C. R., Sligo, J., Matthews, K. R., & Kidman, J. (2020). Consent requires a relationship: Rethinking group consent and its timing in ethnographic research. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 23(6), 719–731. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2020.1760562">https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2020.1760562</a>
- Nascimento, L. d. C. N., de Souza, T. V., Oliveira, I. C. d. S., de Moraes, Juliana
  Rezende, Montenegro Medeiros, de Aguiar, R., Cordeiro Burla, & da Silva, L. F.
  (2018). Theoretical saturation in qualitative research: An experience report in interview with schoolchildren. *Revista Brasileira De Enfermagem*, 71(1), 228-233,243-248. https://doi.org/10.1590/0034-7167-2016-0616

- Nguyen, T. L. H., & Nagase, K. (2019). The influence of total quality management on customer satisfaction. *International Journal of Healthcare Management*, *12*(4), 277–285. https://doi.org/10.1080/20479700.2019.1647378
- Nienaber, H., & Martins, N. (2020). Exploratory study: Determine which dimensions enhance the levels of employee engagement to improve organisational effectiveness. *TQM Journal*, *32*(3), 475–495. https://doi.org/10.1108/TQM-05-2019-0151
- Nimri, M., Bdair, A., & Al Bitar, H. (2015). Applying the Expectancy Theory to explain the motivation of public sector employees in Jordan. *Middle East Journal of Business*, 10(3), 70–82. https://doi.org/10.5742/mejb.2015.92714
- Nizamidou, C., Vouzas, F., & Gotzamani, K. (2019). Exploring the interrelationship between quality, safety and HR within crisis management framework. *TQM Journal*, *31*(4), 541–562. https://doi.org/10.1108/TQM-08-2018-0106
- Nkwake, Apollo. (2013). Why are assumptions important? <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-4797-9">https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-4797-9</a> 7.
- Noble, H. & Smith, J. (2015) Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research *Evidence-Based Nursing* 2015;18:34-35.
- O'Connor, E. P., & Crowley-Henry, M. (2019). Exploring the relationship between exclusive talent management, perceived organizational justice and employee engagement: Bridging the literature. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *156*(4), 903–917. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-017-3543-1

- Ohunakin, F., Adeniji, A. A., Ogunlusi, G., Igbadumhe, F., Salau, O. P., & Sodeinde, A. G. (2020). Talent retention strategies and employees' behavioural outcomes: empirical evidence from hospitality industry. *Business: Theory & Practice*, 21(1), 192–199. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3846/btp.2020.11061">https://doi.org/10.3846/btp.2020.11061</a>
- Okoth, V. A., & Florah, O. M. (2019). Motivation and Employee Performance at Avenue Hospital Kisumu County- Kenya. *Business Management Dynamics*, *9*(5), 20–36.
- O'Leary, D. E. (2019). Technology life cycle and data quality: Action and triangulation. *Decision Support Systems*, *126*, N.PAG. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dss.2019.113139">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dss.2019.113139</a>
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42(5), 533-544. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Paul, J. (1996). Between-method triangulation in organizational diagnosis. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis* (1993 2002), 4(2), 135. https://doi.org/10.1108/eb028845
- Peesker, K. M., Ryals, L. J., Rich, G. A., & Boehnke, S. E. (2019). A qualitative study of leader behaviors perceived to enable salesperson performance. *Journal of*

- Personal Selling & Sales Management, 39(4), 319–333. https://doi.org/10.1080/08853134.2019.1596816
- Pimentel, L., & Major, M. J. (2014). Quality management and a balanced scorecard as supporting frameworks for a new management model and organisational change. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, *25*(7/8), 763–775. https://doi.org/10.1080/14783363.2014.904568
- Plutzer, E. (2019). Privacy, sensitive questions, and informed consent: Their impacts on total survey error, and the future of survey research. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 83, 169–184. https://doi.org/10.1093/poq/nfz017
- Prada-Ramallal, G., Takkouche, B., & Figueiras, A. (2017). Diverging conclusions from the same meta-analysis in drug safety: Source of data (primary versus secondary) takes a toll. *Drug Safety*, 40(4), 351–358. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s40264-016-0492-z">https://doi.org/10.1007/s40264-016-0492-z</a>
- Pradhan, S., Jena, L. K., & Bhattacharyya, P. (2018). Transformational leadership and contextual performance. *International Journal of Productivity & Performance Management*, 67(2), 445–462. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-08-2016-0186
- Prasad, B. D. (2019). Qualitative content analysis: Why is it still a path less taken? *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 20(3), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-20.3.3392
- Price, J. H., & Murnan, J. (2004). Research limitations and the necessity of reporting them. *American Journal of Health Education*, 35(2), 66.

- Quartiroli, A., Knight, S. M., Etzel, E. F., & Monaghan, M. (2017). Using skype to facilitate team-based qualitative research, including the process of data analysis. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 20(6), 659–666. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2016.1275371
- Quinby, L. D. (2020). Do Deferred Retirement Benefits Retain Government

  Employees? *Journal of Policy Analysis & Management*, 39(2), 469–509.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/pam.22173">https://doi.org/10.1002/pam.22173</a>
- Raja Sreedharan, V., Balagopalan, A., Murale, V., & Arunprasad, P. (2020). Synergising lean six sigma with human resource practices: Evidence from literature arena. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, *31*(5/6), 636–653. https://doi.org/10.1080/14783363.2018.1439374
- Reysen, S., Plante, C. N., Roberts, S. E., & Gerbasi, K. C. (2019). Initial validation and reliability of the single-item measure of immersion. *Creative Industries Journal*, 12(3), 272–283. https://doi.org/10.1080/17510694.2019.1621586
- Ritter, T., & Andersen, H. (2014). A relationship strategy perspective on relationship portfolios: Linking customer profitability, commitment, and growth potential to relationship strategy. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 43(6), 1005-1011. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2014.05.013
- Roberts, M. E., Stewart, B. M., Tingley, D., Lucas, C., Leder, L. J., Gadarian, S. K., Albertson, B., & Rand, D. G. (2014). Structural topic models for open-ended

- survey responses. *American Journal of Political Science (John Wiley & Sons, Inc.)*, 58(4), 1064–1082. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/ajps.12103">https://doi.org/10.1111/ajps.12103</a>
- Robbins, J. L. (1990). Getting the employee to do the job. *Armed Forces Comptroller*, 35(4), 24.
- Rompho, N. (2017). HC and financial performance with two HRM strategies. *International Journal of Productivity & Performance Management*, 66(4), 459–478. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-12-2015-0184">https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-12-2015-0184</a>
- Rosenberg, S., & Skiba, M. (2011). Employment and equity theory: The erosion of an established relationship. *Proceedings of the Northeast Business & Economics Association*, 409–410.
- Ross, S. M., & Kapitan, S. (2018). Balancing self/collective-interest: Equity theory for prosocial consumption. *European Journal of Marketing*, 52(3), 528-549. https://doi.org/10.1108/EJM-01-2017-0002
- Rowold, J., Borgmann, L., & Bormann, K. (2014). Which leadership constructs are important for predicting job satisfaction, affective commitment, and perceived job performance in profit versus nonprofit organizations? *Nonprofit Management & Leadership*, 25(2), 147-164. https://doi.org/10.1002/nml.21116
- Roca-Puig, V., Beltrán-Martín, I., & Segarra-Ciprés, M. (2012). Commitment to employees, labor intensity, and labor productivity in small firms A non-linear approach. *International Journal of Manpower*, *33*(8), 938–954.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/01437721211280399">https://doi.org/10.1108/01437721211280399</a></a>

- S, S., & M M, S. (2021). Influence of empowerment, psychological contract and employee engagement on voluntary turnover intentions. *International Journal of Productivity & Performance Management*, 70(2), 325–349. https://doi.org./10.1108/IJPPM-04-2019-0189
- Sahay, P. (2015). Lean six sigma tools in the hiring process. *Strategic HR Review*, *14*(1/2), 22–29. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/SHR-06-2014-0040">https://doi.org/10.1108/SHR-06-2014-0040</a>
- Sánchez, A. G., Popescy, D., Chivu, I., Ciocârlan-Chitucea, A., & Popescu, D. O. (2011).

  How to improve small and medium-sized enterprises profitability by practicing an efficient human resources management. *Theoretical & Applied Economics*, 18(1), 49–64.
- Sarfaraz, A., Jenab, K., & Bowker, A. (2015). A view of development in management for increasing profitability in the corporate landscape. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, 22(1), 120–134. https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-09-2012-0058
- Sasmita Palo, & Nayantara Padhi. (2005). How HR professionals drive TQM: A case study in an Indian organization. *TQM Magazine*, *17*(5), 467–485. https://doi.org/10.1108/09544780510615960
- Saunders, B., Sim, J., Kingstone, T., Baker, S., Waterfield, J., Bartlam, B., . . . Jinks, C. (2018). Saturation in qualitative research: Exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. *Quality and Quantity*, *52*(4), 1893-1907. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8</a>

- Saunders, M. N. K., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2015). *Research methods for business students* (7th ed.). Essex, England: Pearson Education Limited.
- Schmidt, R. (2007). The benefits of an engaged employee. *Credit Union Journal*, 11(44), 10.
- Scott, A. (2018). Expectancy, goal-setting, and reinforcement: Behavioral theories and their application in the workplace. *Available at SSRN 3480853*.
- Selladurai, R. (2002). An organizational profitability, productivity, performance (PPP) model: going beyond TQM and BPR. *Total Quality Management*, *13*(5), 613–619. https://doi.org/10.1080/0954412022000002027
- Shuck, B., Roberts, T. P., & Zigarmi, D. (2018). Employee perceptions of the work environment, motivational outlooks, and employee work intentions: An HR Practitioner's Dream or Nightmare? *Advances in Developing Human*\*Resources, 20(2), 197–213. https://doi.org/10.1177/1523422318757209
- Shufutinsky, A. (2020). Employing use of self for transparency, rigor, trustworthiness, and credibility in qualitative organizational research methods. *OD Practitioner*, 52(1), 50–58.
- Skiba, M., & Rosenberg, S. (2011). The disutility of equity theory in contemporary management practice. *The Journal of Business and Economic Studies*, 17(2), 1-19,97-98.
- Skinner, B. F. (1958). Reinforcement today. *American Psychologist*, *13*(3), 94–99. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0049039

- Smithson, J. (2000). Using and analysing focus groups: limitations and possibilities. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, *3*(2), 103–119. https://doi.org/10.1080/136455700405172
- Sobaih, A. E. E., & Hasanein, A. M. (2020). Herzberg's theory of motivation and job satisfaction: Does it work for hotel industry in developing countries? *Journal of Human Resources in Hospitality & Tourism*, *19*(3), 319–343. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332845.2020.1737768
- Soysa, I. B., Jayamaha, N. P., & Grigg, N. P. (2018). Developing a strategic performance scoring system for healthcare nonprofit organisations. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, *25*(9), 3654–3678. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-02-2017-0026">https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-02-2017-0026</a>
- Spiggle, S. (1994). Analysis and interpretation of qualitative data in consumer research. *Journal of Consumer Research*, *21*(3), 491–503. https://doi.org/10.1086/209413
- Stewart, D. (2017). Incentive insight: Profits and employee engagement can soar when you reward your employees. *Landscape Management*, 56(8), 50-54.
- Subramaniam, C., Choo, L. S., & Johari, J. (2019). What makes employees want to stay?

  A study in the Malaysian manufacturing sector. *Global Business* &

  Organizational Excellence, 38(5), 33–43. https://doi.org/10.1002/joe.21949
- Sumlin, C., Hough, C., & Green, K. (2021). The impact of ethics environment, organizational commitment, and job satisfaction on organizational

- performance. *Journal of Business & Management*, *27*(1), 53–78. https://doi.org/10.6347/JBM.202103 27(1).0003
- Sun, R., & Wang, W. (2017). Transformational leadership, employee turnover intention, and actual voluntary turnover in public organizations. *Public Management Review*, *19*(8), 1124–1141. https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2016.1257063
- Suri, H. (2011). Purposeful sampling in qualitative research synthesis. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 11(2), 63-75. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3316/QRJ1102063">https://doi.org/10.3316/QRJ1102063</a>
- Swid, A., Bienstock, J., & Cohn, D. Y. (2017). Satisfied employees and company brand image: A social media approach. *Journal of Consumer Satisfaction*, *Dissatisfaction & Complaining Behavior*, 30, 22–23.
- Thomas, B. (2016). Employee engagement. Smart Business Columbus, 24(12), 42.
  U. S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2021, May 11). Job Openings and Labor Turnover March 2021 [Press release].
  <a href="https://www.bls.gov/news.release/pdf/jolts.pdf">https://www.bls.gov/news.release/pdf/jolts.pdf</a>
- Trivedi, K., & Srivastava, K. B. L. (2021). A framework for integrating strategic HR and knowledge management for innovation performance. *Strategic HR Review*, 20(1), 11–16. https://doi.org/10.1108/SHR-08-2020-0076
- Vaismoradi, M., & Snelgrove, S. (2019). Theme in qualitative content analysis and thematic analysis. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 20(3), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-20.3.3376

- Van De Voorde, K., Veld, M., & Van Veldhoven, M. (2016). Connecting empowerment focused HRM and labour productivity to work engagement: the mediating role of job demands and resources. *Human Resource Management Journal*, 26(2), 192-210. https://doi.org/10.1111/1748-8583.12099
- Vargas, P. T., Duff, B. R. L., & Faber, R. J. (2017). A practical guide to experimental advertising research. *Journal of Advertising*, 46(1), 101–114. https://doi.org/10.1080/00913367.2017.1281779
- Vaughn, P., & Turner, C. (2016). Decoding via coding: Analyzing qualitative text data through thematic coding and survey methodologies. *Journal of Library Administration*, 56(1), 41–51. https://doi.org/10.1080/01930826.2015.1105035
- Vollmer, T. R., Peters, K. P., Kronfli, F. R., Lloveras, L. A., & Ibañez, V. F. (2020). On the definition of differential reinforcement of alternative behavior. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 53(3), 1299–1303. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.701">https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.701</a>
- Villa Costa Vaz, P., Portulhak, H., dos Santos Bortolocci Espejo, M. M., & Pacheco, V. (2020). Rewards and management control systems: A meta-synthesis of primary case studies. *Brazilian Journal of Management / Revista de Administração Da UFSM*, 13(2), 313–332. https://doi.org/10.5902/1983465922889
- Weer, C. H., & Greenhaus, J. H. (2020). Managers' Assessments of Employees'
  Organizational Career Growth Opportunities: The Role of Extra-Role
  Performance, Work Engagement, and Perceived Organizational

- Commitment. *Journal of Career Development*, *47*(3), 280–295. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894845317714892
- Wellman, N., Applegate, J. M., Harlow, J., & Johnston, E. W. (2020). Beyond the pyramid: alternative formal hierarchical structures and team performance. *Academy of Management Journal*, 63(4), 997–1027. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2017.1475
- Welsh, E. (2002). Dealing with Data: Using NVivo in the qualitative data analysis process. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, *3*(2), 20–26.
- Wiard, H. (1972). Why manage behavior? A case for positive reinforcement. *Human*\*Resource Management, 11(2), 15–20. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.3930110203">https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.3930110203</a>
- Williams, M., & Moser, T. (2019). The art of coding and thematic exploration in qualitative research. *International Management Review*, *15*(1), 45–55.
- Wong, S. I. (2019). Influencing upward: subordinates' responses to leaders'

  (un)awareness of their empowerment expectations. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 30(10), 1604–1634.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2017.1299194
- Yilmaz, D. E., & Antmen, F. (2019). Project selection method based on balanced scorecard framework. *Business & Economics Research Journal*, 10(5), 1179– 1187. https://doi.org/10.20409/berj.2019.229
- Yin, RK (2014) Case study research: Design and methods (5th edn.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.

- Younies, H., & Al-Tawil, T. N. (2021). Hospitality workers' reward and recognition. *International Journal of Law & Management*, 63(2), 157–171. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJLMA-02-2020-0046
- Yumnam, T., & Elangbam, N. S. (2019). Employee retention in private life insurance companies: An empirical study in manipur. *Journal of Strategic Human Resource Management*, 8(2), 31-36.
- Zawawi, N. H. M., & Hoque, Z. (2020). The implementation and adaptation of the balanced scorecard in a government agency. *Australian Accounting Review*, 30(1), 65–79. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/auar.12281">https://doi.org/10.1111/auar.12281</a>
- Zeidan, S., & Itani, N. (2020). Cultivating employee engagement in organizations:

  Development of a conceptual framework. *Journal of Management & Business Administration*. *Central Europe*, 28(1), 99–118.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.7206/cemj.2658-0845.18">https://doi.org/10.7206/cemj.2658-0845.18</a>
- Zelles, R. (2015). Better profitability through higher employee engagement through higher employee engagement in the knowledge worker age. *Journal of HRM*, 18(2), 62-72.
- Zuliawati Mohamed Saad, Suhaimi Sudin, & Norlina Shamsuddin. (2018). The influence of leadership style, personality attributes and employee communication on employee engagement. *Global Business & Management Research*, 10(3), 743–753.

## Appendix: Interview Protocol

The research question for this study is: What strategies do human resource managers use to increase employee commitment and retention to increase the company's productivity and profit? Therefore, this qualitative multiple case study consisted of seven open-ended questions to gain ideas and insights from experienced human resource managers.

Interview Protocol	
Protocol Steps	Protocol Actions
Select participants	I will contact participants by email or
	phone and according to established
	eligibility criteria.
Set time and place for interview	Interviews will take place in participant's
	private office or public place.
Introduce the interview and set the stage	I will recap the purpose of the research
	study, obtain verbal consent from each
	participant, and provide each participant
	a written consent form.
Record the interview	I will explain to the participant the
	interview will be audio-recorded. The
	interview will start with the following
	background information:
	<ul> <li>a. Educational background</li> </ul>
	b. Title/Position
	c. Years of experience
Ask open-ended questions while watching	1. What successful strategies are you
for non-verbal cues, paraphrasing as	employing to increase commitment and
needed, and asking follow-up probing	retention to reduce turnover and training
questions to ensure rich and in-depth	cost to improve productivity and
responses	profitability?
	2. How have you assessed the strategies'
	effectiveness of the employee strategies;
	you developed to increase productivity
	and profitability?
	3. How has implementation of employee
	commitment and retention strategies
	improved productivity and profitability?

	4. What were the key challenges that you encountered implementing employee commitment and retention strategies? 5. How did your organization address the key challenges to increase employee commitment and retention? 6. Based upon your experience, how have your organization's strategies to improve employee commitment and retention influence your company's ability to increase productivity and retention? 7. What additional information about your organization's strategies to improve employee retention to improve productivity would you like to add to the interview?
Wrap up the interview thanking participant	Thank each participant in person and confirm the participant has my contact information for follow-up questions and concerns. I will also mail out a thank you card to each participant after the interview.
Transcribing the interview	I will transcribe each interview and email transcription and interpretation to participants.
Member check	I will contact each participant and confirm accuracy of the transcription.
Schedule a follow-up member checking interview to ensure data saturation and enhanced rigor of the research	I will ask participants if my synthesis represents their response of if there is additional information they would like to share.